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ULSTER BANK GROUP

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors of Ulster Bank Limited (“the Bank") have pleasure in presenting their report, together with audited
financial statements of the Bank and 1ts subsidianies (together "the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2008
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (*IFRS")

ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

Activity

Ulster Bank Group 15 a leading player in the Insh banking market operating through its extensive branch and
business centre network across the 1sland of Ireland Serving personal customers, Ulster Bank Retail Markets
provides branch banking, Bankassurance and direct banking throughout Northern Ireland and the Republic of
Ireland and mortgage and investment services through its First Active subsidiary Corporate Markets provide a
wide range of banking products and services including corporate and business banking facilities, foreign exchange,
money market services, interational trade finance and fixed income

Review of the year
Busmness review

The significant detertoration in global and local market conditions gave nise to a very difficult trading environment
for the Group in 2008 with operating performance falling to a loss before tax of £694m compared to an operating
profit before tax of £487m in 2007 In common with all lenders across the Insh banking market the Group
expenenced a significant increase in its iImpairment charge ansing from detenorating credit conditions in the loan
portfolio

In accordance with IFRS, the Group must undertake an annual impairment test on goodwill and other intangible
assets Given the significant deterioration in the short term performance of the Bank and the reduced profit outlook
over the planning honizon, the Group has wntten down the value of its investments in First Active plc and Easycash
{Irefand) Limited The Group has also booked an impairment charge on other intangibles representing internally
capitalised software due to reduced income streams capable of supporting an adequate value In use test

Despite these difficult trading difficulties the Group continued to enhance and develop both its retail and corporate
product offenngs including a new Private Banking service for retall customers in Northern Ireland and the
introduction of many market leading products following the completion of our Corporate Markets migration to the
RBS operating platform  In addition, and recognising the difficult market conditons generally, the Group 1s in
the process of introducing a range of support and advice services for its customers Support for retai
customers includes the Money Sense advisory programme and longer grace periods before mortgage
repossessions are initiated whilst the business sector 1s benefiting from a vanety of support services including
commitments around the availatiiity of finance

Financial performance

The Group's financial performance 1s presented in the Income Statement on page 9

Net interest income at £926m increased over 2007 levels manly as a result of currency movements but decreased
when taken on a constant currency basis The impact of lending growth, particutarly in the first half of the year, as
well as the positive impact of certain pncing changes was substantially offset by increased funding costs in the
retall and wholesale markets

Non interest income fell to £111m from £343m as a result of reduced activity levels in the Bankassurance and
Wealth management businesses and was also adversely impacted by accounting volatiity anising on interest rate
hedges

Operating expenses increased by 9% reflecting the full year impact of the investment programme completed n
2007, cost growth in the second haif of 2008 was significantly lower reflecting disciplined management of the cost
base

Loan impairment losses have increased to £414m from £78m 1n 2007 This reflects the deterioration in credit
metncs and imparments dnven by the slowdown in the Insh economy throughout 2008

At the end of the year total assets were £69,685m

%% Ulster Bank



ULSTER BANK GROUP

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

Accounting Policies

The reported results of the Group are sensitive to the accounting policies, assumptions and estmates that underle
the preparation of its financial statements Details of the Group's cntical accounting policies and key sources of
accounting judgements are included in the Accounting policies on pages 13t0 24

Risk management

The major nsks associated with the Group’s businesses are Market, Currency, Liquidity, Credit and Operational
nsks The Group has established a comprehensive framework for managing these nsks, which is centrally evolving
as the Group's business activites change n response to market, credit, product and other developments The
Group's policies for managing each of these nsks and its exposure thereto are detailed in Note 27 to the financial
statements

Share Capital

Analysis of the changes to the share capital can be found in Note 22 to the financial statements
Directorate

The names of the current members of the Board of Directars are shown on page 1 and bnef biographical detalls
are shown on pages 81 to 82 From 1 January 2008 to date the following changes have taken place

Appointed Resigned
Directors
Alan Gillespie 4 September 2008
Senan Murphy 4 February 2008
Sean Dorgan 1 July 2008
whchael Torpey 4 February 2008
Assistant Secretary
Dawvid Peacock 24 December 2008
Rachel Curran 24 December 2008

Pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors passed on 10 December 2008, the appointment of Sir Nigel
Hamilton as an additional non executive Director of the Bank, I1s subject to regulatory approval

Directors’ Indemnities

In terms of Section 236 of the Compames Act 2006, all Directors have been granted Qualfying Third Party
Indemnity Provisions by The Royal Bank of Scotland Group pic ("RBS Group")

Employees

The average number of persons employed by the Group was 6,668 Of these 2,599 worked wholly or mainly in the
United Kingdom and the remuneration paid or payable to them was £34 1m in total (2007 £89 5m) Employees are
split by Retall Markets 3,076 and Corporate Markets/Others 3,525

Staff Involvement

in 2007 the Group embarked on a cultural change programme which defines clear goals and strategies to
accelerate the pace towards becoming the Number One Banking Group in Ireland In 2008 progress on this
programme has continued In support of this, the Group launched a cross business programme called 'One
Achievers' which enables employees to nominate colleagues who have lived our organisational values, resulting In
a total of 2,551 nominations group-wide

The Group conducts an annual survey of employee opinions known as Yourfeedback The survey results prowvide
valuable data to decision makers across the Group 1n support of improving employee engagement and satisfaction

Employees across the Group continued to give generously, both financially and through vaolunteenng, to many
community and other worthy causes Such giving 1s encouraged by the Group with its use of matched funding and
staff chanty funds which suppart worthy causes at local, national and ntemationa level

The Group 1s represented on the European Employee Communication Council which facilitates dhalogue amongst
employee representatives in the European Economic Area

%% Ulster Bank



ULSTER BANK GROUP

REPORT OF THE DIRECTCRS {(continued)

Employment of Disabled Persons

The Group's policy s that disabled persons are considered for employment and subsequent traming, career
development and promotion based on ment If members of staff become disabled, 1t 1s the Group's paolicy,
wherever possible, to retain them in their existing jobs or to re-deploy them in other suitable altemnative duties

Diversity

The attanment of an effective equal opportunities policy 1s a natural and integral part of good management
practice Key elements of our policy are an intention to develop and treat people fawly and create an environment
within which staff can develop to their full potential 1t 1s the Group's policy to comply with the relevant provisions of
legislation and have regard to Codes of Practice affecting employment practices Through our Managing Diversity
Programme, we aim to value and engage ndividual difference and maximise nclusion to create a positive
expenence for our people and our customers

Our commitment to diversity underping our desire to be the financial services provider of choice for our customers
and to be the employer of choice for our people The Group wll recruit, retain, develop and promote people based
solely on ment regardless of ther disabiity, gender, political opon, race, rehgious behef or any other
characteristics

Heailth and Safety

The Group 1s committed to ensuning the safety, health and wellbeing of its employees and customers There i1s an
ongoing programme of review that monitors and evaluates existing policies and procedures to ensure that thay
comply with legislation and best practice, whilst ensuring they meet operational business requirements

Policy and Practice on Payment of Creditors

The Group 1s committed to maintaining a normal commercial relationship wath its suppliers Consequently, it1s the
Group’s policy to negohate and agree terms and conditions with its supphers, which includes the giving of an
undertaking to pay suppliers within 30 days of receipt of a correctly prepared invoice submitted in accordance with
the terms of the contract or such other payment period as may be agreed

At 31 December 2008, the amount owed to trade creditors by the Group, expressed as a proportion of the amounts
invoiced by suppliers dunng the year then ended. was 30 days (2007 30 days)

Chantable Contnbutions

Dunng the year the Group made chantable and community nvestment donations i the United Kingdom and the
Republic of Ireland totalling £809,514 (2007 £539,581)

Going Concern

The Group's business activibes, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and
position, including potential nsks and uncertainties, are set out In the Business Review on page 2

The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position, capital and funding sources are set out in the
financial statements In addition, Note 27 to the financial statements includes the Group's objectives, policies and
processes for managing its capital, its financial nsk management objectives, details of its financial instruments and
hedging activities, and its exposures to credit nsk and liquidity nsk

The Group 1s part of the RBS Group and recewves ongoing capital, funding and hquidity resources which, coupled
with other sources of funding and iquidity, enable the Group meet its obligations as they fall due Other sources of
funding and hquidity include retail, wholesale and central bank iquidity

The Directors are satisfied that the Group will continue to enjoy the ongoing support of RBS Group by way of
capital, funding and hiquidity faciihes After considenng the Group's financial outlock and related funding and
capital needs, the Directors are confident that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concem basis in preparing the
annual report and accounts

%% Ulster Bank



ULSTER BANK GROUP

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

Events since the year end

In January 2009, Ulster Bank announced details of a restructunng programme that will see the merger of the
operations of Ulster Bank Ireland Limited and First Active plc in the Republic of Ireland, as well as a senes of cost
management initiatives across the Ulster Bank Group This acton 1s being taken to furiher strengthen the Ulster
Bank Group franchise by posttioning it to best deal with the prevailing local and global market conditions

Auditors

The auditors, Delortte LLP, have indicated their willingness to continue in office

By order of the Board

bolod

Secretary
11-16 Donegall Square East

Belfast
BT1 5UB
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES

Company law requires the Directors to prepare a Directors’ report and financial statements for each financial year
and have elected to prepare them in accordance wath intemational Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by
the European Union ("EU"} They are responsible for preparing financial statements that present fairly the financial
posttion, financial performance and cash flows of the Group and the Bank In preparing thase financial statements,
the Directors are required to

. select suitable accounting polkcies and then apply them consistently,

. make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

. state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, and

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern bass unless it 1s inapproprate to presume that the
Group and the Bank will continue 1n business

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial posttion of the Group and the Bank and to enable them to ensure that the Directors’ report
and financial statements comply with the Companies (Northem Ireland) Order 1986 They are also respansible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and the Bank and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other wregularities

The Directors confirm that these financial statements comply with the aforementioned requirements

By order of the Board

bk OB———

Secretary

11-16 Donegall Square East
Belfast

BT15UB

25 February 2009
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TQ THE MEMBERS OF ULSTER BANK LIMITED

We have audited the Group and Bank financial statements (the “financial statements”) of Ulster Bank Limited (the
“Bank") for the year ended 31 December 2008 which comprise the Accounting Policies, the Consolidated Income
Statement, the Conschdated and Bank Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Bank Statements of Recognised
Income and Expense, the Consolidated and Bank Cash Flow Statements and the related Notes 1 to 39 These
financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein

This repart 1s made solely to the Bank’s members, as a body, 1n accordance with Section 243 of the Companies
(Northem Ireland) Order 1986 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Bank's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Bank and the Bank's
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

The Directors' responsibilibes for prepanng the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the
Statement of Directors' Responsibihties

Qur responstbility 1 to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a frue and fair view and whether the
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order
1986 We also report to you whether n our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report 1s consistent with
the financial statements In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Bank has not kept proper accounting
records, If we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if Information
specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed

We read the Directors' Report and consider whether it 1s consistent with the audited financial statements We
consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or matenal
inconsistencies with the financial statements Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit In accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by
the Auditing Practices Board An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures n the financial statements It also includes an assessment of the signtiicant
estimates and judgments made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group's and Bank's circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtan all the information and explanatons which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other wregularty or
error In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements

3% Ulster Bank



ULSTER BANK GROUP

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ULSTER BANK LIMITED {continued}
Opinion
In our opiion

e the Group financial statements give a irue and far view, In accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2008 and of its loss for the year then
ended,

e the Bank financial statements give a true and fair view, 1n accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union as apphed n accordance with the provisions of the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986, of the
state of the Bank’s affairs as at 31 December 2008,

+ the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies {Northern Ireland)
Order 1986, and

+ theinformation given in the Directors’ Report 1s consistent with the financial statements

Delotlle LIP
Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Belfast, United Kingdom

2L nlond 2009
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT for the year ended 31 December 2008

2008 2007
Note £m £m
Interest receivable 3,647 3,256
Interest payable (2,721) {2,426)
Net interest income 1 926 830
Fees and commission receivable 236 187
Fees and commission payable {23) (31)
Income from trading activites (148) 98
Other operating income 46 89
Non interest income 2 111 343
Total income 1,037 1,173
Operating expenses 3 {660) (608)
Operating profit before impairment losses 377 565
Imparment loss on loans 11 (414) (78)
Imparment on intangibles 15 {657} -
Operating (loss)/profit before tax {694) 487
Tax 6 5 (118}
{Loss)/profit for the year (689) 3698
{Loss)profit attributable to
Minonty mnterests 23 45 38
Equity preference shareholders 7 60 57
Ordinary shareholders 23 (794) 274
(689) 369

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 February 2002 and signed on its behalf by

S Dorgan C MeCarthy S Murphy
Chairman Group Chief Execufive Group Finance Director

%% Ulster Bank



R333

ULSTER BANK GROUP

BALANCE SHEETS as at 31 December 2008

Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007

Note £m £m £m £m
Assets
Cash and halances at central banks 9 346 290 103 74
Treasury and other eligible bills 9 - 1 - -
Loans and advances to banks 9 5157 7.585 6,389 6,726
Loans and advances to customers g 59,566 45,735 8,132 8,255
Debt secunties subyect to repurchase agreements 98 21 98 -
Other debt secunties 4,430 2,065 a1 815
Debt secunties 9,12 1,528 2,086 419 815
Equity shares 9,13 13 10 - -
Investments in Group undertakings 9,14 - - 1,333 1,608
Denvatives 9,17 2,329 1,422 47 89
Intangible assets 9,15 1 526 - 31
Property, plant and equipment 9,16 415 Kyl 125 117
Prepayments, accrued income and other assets 9,18 252 218 120 87
Deferred taxation 9,20 68 50 38 37
Total assets 69,685 58,244 16,706 17,839
Liabilities
Deposits by banks 9 22,957 10,051 7,565 4,054
Customer accounts 9 24,7941 21,901 4,974 6,659
Debt secunties In 1ssue 9 14,194 19,300 955 3,339
Dernvatives 9,17 2,205 1,565 69 53
Accruals, deferred income and other habilibes 919 087 867 616 583
Retrement benefit labilihes 4,9 212 197 101 110
Deferred taxation 9.20 34 37 15 16
Subordinated llabilities 9,21 1,318 1,062 1,077 860
Total liabilities 66,698 54,980 15,372 15,674
Equity
Minonity interests 23 562 494 - -
Shareholders’ equity
Called up share capital 2223 717 717 717 717
Reserves 23 1,708 2,053 617 1,448
Total equity 2,987 3,264 1,334 2,165
Total habilities and equity 69,685 58,244 16,706 17,839

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 February 2009 and signed on its behalf

S Dorgan C McCarthy S Murphy
Chairman Group Chief Executtve Group Finance Director

* x¢Ulster Bank



ULSTER BANK GROUP

STATEMENTS OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE for the year ended 31 December 2008

Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m

Available-for-sale investments
Net valuation gains/(losses) taken direct to equity 4 {9) {23) (3)
Cash flow hedges
Net (losses) taken direct to equity (1 5) - -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operation 632 63 {249) 37
Actuanal gans and other movements {20) (6) (1) -
Income/{expense) bafore tax on items recognised direct in equity 615 43 (273) 34
Tax on items recognised direct In equity 3 3 7 1
Net incomef{expense) recognised direct in equity 818 46 {266) 35
{Loss)profit for the year {794) 368 (412) 678
Total recognised income and expense for the year (176) 415 (678) 713
Attnbutable to
Equity shareholders (343) 377 {678) 713
Minonty interest 167 38 - ~

{176) 415 {678) 713

11
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

CASH FLOW STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2008

Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
Note £m £m £m £m
Operating activities
Operating (loss)/profit before tax (694) 487 (415} 750
Adjustments for
Depreciation and amortisation 52 62 20 27
Interest on subordinated habilities 63 35 50 23
Charge for defined benefit pension schemes 52 37 19 14
Cash contribution to defined benefit pension schemes (71) (35) (28) {14)
Enmmation of foreign exchange differences 478 5 (35) 25
Other non-cash items {33y (162) 57 (152)
Net cash flows from trading activities 30 (155) 429 {332) 673
Changes i aperating assets and habilities {4,751) 2,120 (400) (1,044)
Net cash flows from operating activites before tax (4,908) 2,549 (732) (371)
Income taxes (paid} (62) {192) {38) {70)
Net cash flows from operating activities 30 {4,968) 2,357 (770) (441}
Investing activities
Sale and matunty of secunties 833 337 362 -
Purchase of secunties {16) (595) - (269)
Sale of property, plant and equipment 1 36 - 18
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (60} (30) {21) (3)
Net investment in business interests and intangible assets - - (236) (319)
Impairment of Investments in Group undertakings - - 418 -
Impairment of Intangible assets 657 - 23 -
Net cash flows from investing activities 1,415 (252) 546 {573)
Financing activities
Issue of subordinated liabilities - 584 - 511
Net equity minonty interest (withdrawn)/acquired {72) 324 - -
Repayment of subordinated labilihes - (22) - -
Dividends paid (87) (651) (60) {630)
Interest on subordinated habiliies {63) (35} {50} (23}
Net cash flows from financing activities {222} 200 (110} {(142)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
_equivalents 449 270 25 145
Net (decrease)/increase n cash and cash equivalents (3,326) 2,575 (309} (1,011}
Cash and cash equivalents 1 January 6,770 4,195 5,832 6,843
Cash and cash equivalents 31 December 33 3,444 6,770 5,523 5,832

12
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Interational Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (*|ASB"}, and interpretations ssued by the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the 1ASB (together “IFRS") as adopted by the European Union
(“EU"} The Bank accounts are presented in accordance with the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986

The EU has not adopted the complete text of IAS 39 'Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement’, it has
relaxed some of the standard’s hedging requirements The Group has not taken advantage of this relaxation and
has adopted IAS 39 as issued by the IASB The date of transiion to IFRS for the Group and the Bank and the date
of therr opening IFRS balance sheets was 1 January 2004

2 Accounting convention

The Bank 15 incorporated and registered in Northem irefand The financial statements are prepared on the
histonical cost basis except that the following assets and habilities are stated at thewr far value denvative financial
instruments, held-for-trading financial assets and financial habilihes, financial assets and financial habilihes that are
designated at far value through profit or loss, and available-for-sale financial assets Recognised financial assets
and financial iabiliies in fair value hedges are adjusted for changes in far value in respect of the nsk that 1s
hedged

3 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the holding company (Ulster Bank
Limited) and entities (including certain special purpose entities) controlled by the Bank (its subsidianes) Control
exists where the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entty, generally
conferred by holding a majonty of voting rnights

On acquisiion of a subsidiary, its 1dentifiable assets, hiabilihes and contingent labilites are included in the
consolidated accounts at therr fair value Any excess of the cost (the farr value of assets given, abiities incurred or
assumed and equity instruments 1ssued by the Group plus any directly attnbutable costs) of an acquisihion over the
farr value of the net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill The interest of minonty shareholders 1s stated at
their share of the far value of the subsidiary's net assets

The results of subsidianes acquired are included in the censolidated income statement from the date control
passes to the Group The results of subsidianes are included up until the Group ceases to control them through
sale or significant change in circumstances

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation The consolidated
accounts are prepared using uniform accounting policies

4 Revenue recognition

Interest Income on financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables, available-for-sale or held-to-
matunty and interest expense on financial habiites other than those at far value through profit or loss 1s
determined using the effective interest rate method The effective interest rate method 15 a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial hability (or group of financial assets or habilities) and of
allocating the nterest income or interest expense aver the expected Iife of the asset or lability The effective
interest rate 15 the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows to the nstrument’s 1mbal camying
amount Calculation of the effective Interest rate takes into account fees payable or receivable, that are an integral
part of the instrument's yield, premums or discounts on acquisition or 1ssue, early redemption fees and transaction
costs All contractual tenms of a financial instrument are considered when estimating future cash flows

Financial assets and financial liabiities held-for-trading or designated as farr value through profit or loss are
recorded at far value Changes in fair valug are recognised through profit or loss together with drvidends and
interest recevable and payable

Commitment and utilisation fees are determined as a percentage of the outstanding facility If it 1s unhkely that a
specific lending arrangement will be entered nto, such fees are taken through profit or loss over the hfe of the
facility otherwase they are deferred and included in the effective interest rate on the advance

13
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

4 Revenue recognition {continued)

Fees in respect of services are recogmised as the nght to consideration acecrues through the provision of the
service to the customer The arrangements are generally contractual and the cost of providing the service 1s
ncurred as the service is rendered The price 18 usually fixed and always determinable The application of this
policy to significant fee types is outhined below

Payment services ncome compnses income received for payment services including chegues cashed and direct
debits These are generally charged on a per transaction basis The income 15 earned when the payment or
transaction occurs Charges for payment services are usually debited to the customer's account, monthly or
quarterly In arrears Accruals are raised for services provided but not charged at period end

Card related services fees from credit card business include

e Commission recetved from retallers for processing credit and debit card transactions income I1$ accrued to
profit or loss as the service 1s performed

» Interchange recewed as issuer, the Group receives a fee (interchange} each time a cardholder purchases
goods and services The Group also receives interchange fees from other card 1ssuers for providing cash
advances through its branch and Automated Teller Machine networks These fees are accrued once the
transaction has taken place

o An annual fee payable by a credit card holder 1s deferred and taken to profit or loss over the period of the
service 1 e 12 months

Insurance brokerage this 1s made up of fees and commissions received from the agency sale of nsurance
Commission on the sale of an nsurance contract 1s earned at the inception of the policy as the insurance has been
arranged and placed However, provision 1S made where commission 1s refundable In the event of policy
cancellation in ine with estimated cancellations

Investment management fees fees charged for managing investments are recognised as revenue as the services
are provided Incremental costs that are directly altributable to secunng an investment management contract are
deferred and charged as expense as the related revenue I1s recognised

Fees and commissrons payable Fees and commussions are payable in respect of services provided by third party
intermedianes These are charged through profit or loss over the Iife of the underlying product

5 Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The Group provides post-retirement benefits in the form of pensions to eligible employees The cost of defined
benefit pension schemes 1s assessed by independent professionally qualfied actuanes and recognised on a
systematic basis over employees’ service lives

For defined benefit schemes, scheme liabilities are measured on an actuanal basis using the projected unit credit
method and discounted at a rate that reflects the current rate of return on a high qualty corporate bond of
equivalent term and currency to the scheme habiites Scheme assets are measured at their far value Cumulative
actuanal gains or losses that exceed 10 per cent of the greater of the assets or the obligations of the scheme are
amortised through profit or loss over the expected average remaning hves of parbcipating employees Past
service costs are recognised immediately to the extent that benefits have vested, otherwise they are amorhsed
over the penod until the benefits become vested

Any surplus or deficit of scheme assets over habiliies adjusted for unrecognised actuanal gains and losses and
past service costs 1 recognised in the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or liability (deficit)

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised in the income statement when payable

14
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

6 Intangible assets and goodwili

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses Amortisation 1s charged to profit or loss using methods that best reflect the economic benefits aver their
estimated useful economic lives and Included 1n depreciation and amortisaton The estimated useful economic
lives are as follows

Core deposit intangibles 7 years
Computer software 3-5years
Other acquired intangibles 5- 10 years

Expenditure on internally generated goedwill and brands 15 written off as incurred Direct costs relating to the
development of internal-use computer software are capitalised once technical feasibiity and economic viability
have been established These costs include payroll, the costs of matenals and services, and directly attnbutable
overhead Capitalisation of costs ceases when the software 1s capable of aperating as intended Dunng and after
development, accumulated costs are reviewed for impairment against the projected benefits that the software 1s
expected to generate Costs incurred prior to the estabhshment of technical feasibiity and economic viability are
expensed as incurred as are all traning costs and general overhead The costs of licences to use computer
software that are expected to generate economic benefits beyond one year are also capitalised

Acquired goodwill being the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the Group's interest in the net far value of the
dentfiable assets, llablities and contingent Yiabiites of the subsidiary, associate or joint venture acquired 15
mitialty recogmised at cost and subsequently at cost less any accumulated impairment losses Goodwill arnising on
the acquisition of substdianes is included in the balance sheet caption ‘Intangible assets’ and that on associates
and joint ventures within their carrying amounts The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary, associate or jomt
venture Includes the carrying value of any related goodwll

7 Property, plant and equipment

ltems of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (see below)} and
impairment losses Where an item of property, plant and equipment compnses major components having different
useful lives, they are accounted for separately

Depreciation 1$ charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis so as to write off the depreciable amount of
property, piant and equipment (including assets owned and let on operating leases) over therr estimated useful
lives The depreciable amount 1s the cost of an asset less its residual value Land is not depreciated Esbmated
useful lives are as follows

Freeheld and long leasehold buldings 50 years
Short leaseholds unexpired penod of the lease
Property adaptation costs 15 years
Computer equipment up to 5 years
Other equipment 3to 15 years
15
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

8 Imparment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that its intangible assets or property,
plant and equipment are impaired 1f any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
asset and the impairment loss If any Irrespective of any indications of impairment, intangible assets (excluding
goodwill) with indefinite useful lives are tested annually for impairment by companng their carrying value with their
recoverable amount Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes In
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired If an asset does not generate cash flows that are mdependent
from those of other assets or groups of assets, recoverable amount 1s determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs The recoverable amount of an asset 1s the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its
value in use Value n use 1§ the present value of future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
discounted at a rate that reflects market interest rates adjusted for nsks specific to the assef or cash generating
unit that have not been reflected in the estimation of future cash flows If the recoverable amount of an intangible or
tangible asset 1s less than its carrying value, an impaiment loss 8 recognised immediatety in profit or loss and the
carrying value of the asset reduced by the amount of the loss A reversal of an imparrment loss on mtangible
assets {excluding goodwill) or property, plant and equipment 1s recognised as 1t anses provided the increased
carrying value does not exceed that which it would have been had no impawment loss been recognised
Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed

9 Foreign currencies

The Group's consolidated financial statements are presented in Sterting, which s the functional currency of the
Bank

Transactions n foreign currencies are translated nto Stering at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the
transaction Monetary assets and liabiites denominated in foreign cumrencies are translated nto Sterling at the
rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date Foreign exchange differences ansing on translation are
reported In income from trading activities except for differences ansing on cash flow hedges and hedges of net
Investments in foreign operations Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at far
value are translated into Sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the values were determined
Translation differences ansing on non-monetary items measured at fair value are recogmised i profit or loss
except for differences ansing on available-for-sale non-monetary financial assets, for example equity shares, which
are included In the avaable-for-sale reserve in equity unless the asset 1s the hedged item in a fair value hedge

The assets and habiliies of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments ansing on acquisition,
are translated into Sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheset date The revenues and expenses
of foreign operahons are transiated into Sterling at average exchange rates unless these do not approximate to the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactons Foreign exchange differences ansing on translation
of foreign operations are recognised directly In equity and included in profit or loss on its disposal

10 Leases

Contracts to lease assets are classified as finance leases if they transfer substantially all the nsks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to the customer Other contracts to lease assets are classified as operating leases

Finance lease recevables are stated in the balance sheet at the amount of the net investment in the lease being
the rmimmum lease payments and any unguaranteed residual value discounted at the interest rate impheit in the
lease Finance lease Income is allocated to accounting periods so as to give a constant penodic rate of retumn
before tax on the net investment Unguaranteed residual values are subject to regular review to identify potental
impairment If there has been a reduction in the estimated unguaranteed residual value, the income allocation Is
revised and any reduction in respect of amounts accrued 1s recognised immediately

Rental income from operating leases I1s credited to the income statement on & recevable basis over the term of the
lease Operating lease assets are included within property, plant and equipment and depreciated over thewr useful
Iives (see accounting policy 7)

11 Taxation

Provision 1s made for taxation at current enacted or substantially enacted rates on taxable profits, ansing in income
or in equity, taking into account relief for overseas taxation where appropnate Deferred taxation 18 accounted for in
full for all temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability for accounting purposes and
its carrying amount for tax purposes, except in relation to overseas eamings where remittance 1s controlied by the
Group, and goodwill

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that they will be recovered
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

12 Financial assets

On nitial recogniion financial assets are classified into held-to-matunty, avalable-for-sale financial assets, held
for-trading, designated as at fair value through profit or loss, or loans and recervables

Held-to-matunity investments — a financial asset may be classified as a hetd-to-matunty investment only if it has
fixed or determinable payments, a fixed maturity and the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to
matunty Held-to-matunty mnvestments are initially recognised at far value plus directly related transaction costs
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method (see accounting policy 4)
less any impairment losses

Held-for-trading - a financial asset 1s classified as held-for-trading if it 15 acquired pnncipally for the purpose of
selling 1 the near term, or forms part of a portfolio of financial nstruments that are managed togsther and for
which there 1s evidence of short-term profit taking, or it 1s a denvative (not 1n a qualifying hedge relationship} Held-
for-trading financial assets are recognised at farr value with transaction costs being recognised n profit or loss
Subsequently they are measured at farr value Gains and losses on held-for-trading financial assets are recognised
in profit or loss as they anse

Dasignated at fair value through profit or loss — Financial assets may be designated as at fair value through profit
or loss only If such designation (a} eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement ar recognitton iNnconsistency,
or (b) applies to a group of financial assets, financial habiities or both that the Group manages and evaluates on a
fair value basis, or {c) relates to an instrument that contains an embedded denvative which 15 not evidently closely
related to the host contract

Financial assets that the Group designates on nitial recognition as being at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised at fair value, with transaction costs being recognised n profit or loss and are subsequently measured at
farr value Gans and losses on financial assets that are designated at farr value through profit or loss are
recognised i profit or loss as they anse

The Group has designated financial assets as at far value through profit or loss pnncipally where the assets are
economically hedged by denvatives and farr value designation elimnates the measurement inconsistency that
would anse if the assets were camed at amortised cost or classified as available-for-sale

{ oans and receivables — non-denvative financial assets with fixed or determinable repayments that are not quoted
in an active market are classified as foans and receivables except those that are classified as availlable for sale or
as held-for-trading, or designated as at far value through profit or loss Loans and receivables are nitially
recognised at fair value plus directly related transaction costs They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method {see accounting palicy 4) less any imparrment losses

Available-for-sale — financial assets that are not classified as held-to-matunty, held-for-trading, designated at fair
value through profit or loss, or loans and receivables are classified as available-for-sale Financial assets can be
designated as available-for-sale on inihal recognition Avallable-for-sale financial assets are initially recogrised at
fair value plus directly related transaction costs They are subsequently measured at farr value Unquoted equity
investments whose farr value cannot be measured rehably are carned at cost and classified as avallable-for-sale
financial assets Impairment losses and exchange differences resulting from retranslabing the amortised cost of
monetary available-for-sale financial assets denominated in a foreign currency are recognised n profit or loss
together with interest calculated using the effective interest method {see accounting policy 4) Other changes in the
fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are reported in a separate component of shareholders’ equity until
disposal, when the cumulative gain or loss Is recognised in profit or loss

Regular way purchases of financial assets classified as loans and recevables are recognised on settlement date,
all other regular way purchases are recognised on trade date

Fair value for 2 net open position in a financial asset that 1s quoted in an active market 1s the current bid price times
the number of units of the instrument held Fair values for financial assets not quoted in an active market are
determined using appropriate vaiuation techmques including discounting future cash flows, option pneing models
and other methods that are consistent with accepted economic methedologies for pneing financial assets

17
¥%Ulster Bank



ULSTER BANK GROUP

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued}

13 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there 1s any objective evidence that a financiai asset or
group of financial assets classified as held-to-maturity, availlable-for-sale or loans and receivables 1s impaired A
financial asset or portfolio of financial assets 1s impared and an impairment loss incurred if there 15 objective
evidence that an event or events since intial recogmtion of the asset have adversely affected the amount or tming
of future cash flows from the asset

Financial assets carred at amortised cost - If there 1s objective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial
asset or group of financial assets classified as loans and receivables or as held-to-matunty investments has been
incurred, the Group measures the amount of the loss as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset or
group of assets and the present value of estmated future cash flows from the asset or graup of assets discounted
at the effective interest rate of the mstrument at wutial recogmitton

Impairment losses are assessed individually for financial assets that are individually significant and ndividually or
collectively for assets that are not indwidually significant In making collective assessment of impairrment, financial
assets are grouped into portfolios on the basis of similar nsk charactenstcs Future cash flows from these
portiohos are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows and histoncal loss experience for assets with
similar credit nsk charactenstics Historical loss expenence 1s adjusted, on the basis of current observable data, to
reflect the effects of current conditions not affecting the penod of historical expenence

impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss and the carrying amount of the financial asset or group of
financial assets reduced by establishing an allowance for impairment losses [fin a subsequent pencd the amount
of the 1mpaiment loss reduces and the reduction can be ascribed to an event after the impairment was
recognised, the previously recognised loss I1s reversed by adjusting the alowance Once an imparrment loss has
been recognised on a financial asset or group of financial assets, interest income 1s recognised on the carrying
amount using the rate of interest at which estimated future cash flows were discounted In measunng impairment

Financial assets carried at far value — when a decline in the fair vafue of a financial asset classified as available-
for-sale has been recognised directly In equity and there 1s objective evidence that the asset 1s impaired, the
cumulative loss 1s removed from equity and recogmised n profit or loss The loss 1S measured as the difference
between the amortised cost of the financial asset and its current farr value Impairment losses on available-for-sale
equity instruments are not reversed through profit or loss, but those on avalable-for-sale debt instruments are
reversed, if there 1s an increase in fair value that is objectively related to a subsequent event

14 Financial habihties

A financial hability 1s classified as held-for-trading if it is incurred principally for the repurchase in the near term, or
forms part of a portfolie of financial instruments that are managed together and for which there 1s evidence of short-
term profit taking, or it 1s a denvative (not n a qualifying hedge relationship) Held-for-trading financial habilities are
recognised at far value with transachon costs being recognised in profit or loss Subsequently they are measured
at far vaiue Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss as they arnise

Financial iabilities that the Group designates on initial recognition as being at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised at fair value, with transaction costs being recogrised In profit or loss and are subsequently measured at
farr value Gans and losses on financial habilities that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss as they anse

Financial liabiies may be designated as at fair value through profit or loss only if such designation {(a} ehminates
or signficantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency, or (b) applies to a group of financiat assets,
financial habiites or both that the Group manages and evaluates on a far value basis, or (c) relates to an
instrument that contains an embedded dervative which 15 not evidently closely related to the host contract

The principal category of financial habilihes designated as at fair value through profit or loss 1s structured liabilihies
issued by the Group designation significantly reduces the measurement mconsistency between these lhabiles
and the related denvatives camned at fair value

All other financial liabiliies are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method (see accounting
policy 4)

Fair vaiue for a net open position n a financial hability that 1s quoted In an active market 1s the current offer pnce
ames the number of units of the mstrument held or Issued Fair values for financial labiities not quoted in an active
market are determined using approprate valuaton techniques including discounting future cash flows, option
pricing models and other methods that are consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pncing financial
habilihes
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
15 Derecognition

A financial asset 1s derecognised when it has been transferred and the transfer qualifies for derecognition A
transfer requires that the Group either (a) transfers the contractual nghts to receive the asset's cash flows, or  (b)
retains the nghts to asset’'s cash flows but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to a third
party After a transfer, the Group assesses the extent to which it has retained the nsks and rewards of ownership of
the transferred asset If substantially all the nsks and rewards have been retaned, the asset remains on the
balance sheet If substantially all of the nsks and rewards have been transferred, the asset 1s derecogmsed If
substantally all the risks and rewards have been neither retained nor transferred, the Group assess whether or not
it has retained contrat of the assat ¥ d has not retained control, the asset 1s derecogmsed Where the Group has
retained control of the asset, it continues to recogmse the asset to the extent of its contnuing nvolvement A
financial iability 1s removed from the balance sheet when the obhgation 1s discharged, or cancelled, ar expires

16 Sale and repurchase transactions

Secunties subject to a sale and repurchase agreement under which substantially all the nsks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the Group continue to be shown on the balance sheet and the sale proceeds recorded
as a deposit Secunties acquired In reverse sale and repurchase transactions under which the Group 18 not
exposed to substantially ali the nsks and rewards of ownership are not recognised on the balance sheet and the
consideration 1s recorded n Loans and advances to banks or Loans and advances to customers as appropnate

Secunties borrowing and lending transachons are usually secured by cash or secunties advanced by the borrower
Borrowed secunties are not recognised on the balance sheet or lent secunties derecognised Cash collateral
receved or given Is treated as a loan or deposit, collateral in the form of secuntes 1s not recogmsed

17 Netting

Financial assets and financial habities are offset and the net amount presented m the balance sheet when, and
only when, the Group has a legally enforceable night to set off the recognised amounts, and it Intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the hability simultaneously The Group 1s party to a number
of arrangements, including master neting agreements, that give it the nght to offset financial assets and financial
nabilihes but where 1t does not intend to settle the amounts net or simultaneously and therefore the assets and
habilities concerned are presented gross

18 Capital instruments

The Group classifies a financial nstrument that it rssues as a financial asset, financial habihty or an equity
nstrument 1n accordance wath the substance of the contractual arrangement An instrument is classified as a
hiability 1f 1t 15 @ contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset, or to exchange financia! assets or
financial habiities on potentially unfavourable terms An instrument Is classified as equity if it evidences a residual
interest n the assets of the Group after the deduction of habiites The components of a compound financial
instrument 1ssued by the Group are classified and accounted for separately as financial assets, financial fiabmties
or equity as approprate

19 Denvatives and hedging

Denvative financial Instruments are recognised nttially, and subsequently measured, at far value Denvative fawr
values are determined from quoted prices In active markets where available Where there 1s no active market for
an nstrument, far value 1s denved from prices for the denvative’s components using appropnate pncing or
valuation models

A derwvative embedded 1n a contract 1s accounted for as stand-alone denvatve If its economic charactenstics are
not closely related to the economic charactenstics of the host contract, unless the entire contract 1s carned at fair
value through profit or loss

Gains and losses ansing from changes In fair value of a denvative are recogrused as they anse in profit or loss
unless the denvative 1s the hedging instrument in a qualifying hedge The Group accounting policy recognises
three types of hedge relatonship hedges of changes n the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or firm
commitment (fair value hedges), hedges of the vanability in cash flows from a recognised asset or lability or a
forecast transaction (cash flow hedges), and hedges of the net investment in a foreign operafion
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
19 Denvatives and hedging {continued)

Hedge relationships are formally documented at inception The documentatan includes dentification of the hedged
tem and the hedging instrument, details the nsk that 1s being hedged and the way In which effectiveness will be
assessed at inception and dunng the period of the hedge If the hedge 1s not highly effective In offsetting changes
in fair values or cash flows attnbutable to the hedged nsk, consistent with the documented nsk management
strategy, hedge accounting 1s discontinued

Far value hedge — n a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 1s recognised i profit or loss
The gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged nsk 1s recognised in profit or loss and adjusts the
carrying amount of the hedged item Hedge accounting 1s discontinued if the hedge no longer meets the cntena for
hedge accounting or if the hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, terminated or exercised or iIf hedge designation is
revoked If the hedged item I1s one for which the effective interest rate method 1s used, any cumulative adjustment
1s amortised to profit or loss over the Iife of the hedged ttem using a recalculated effective interest rate

Cash flow hedge - where a denvative financial instrument 1s designated as a hedge of the vanability in cash flows
of a recogmised asset or hability or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective portion of the gain or loss
on the hedging instrument 1s recogmsed directly in equity The ineffective portion 1s recognised in profit or loss
When the forecast transaction results in the recognition of a financial asset or financial kability, the cumulative gain
or loss 1s reclassified from equity In the same periods In which the asset or hability affects profit or loss Otherwise
the cumutative gain or loss 1$ removed from equity and recognised In profit or loss at the same time as the hedged
transaction Hedge accounting 1s discontinued 1f the hedge no longer meets the critena for hedge accounting, if the
hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, terminated or exercised, if the forecast transaction 1s no longer expected to
oceur, or if hedge designation 1s revoked On the discontinuance of hedge accounting (except where a forecast
transaction 1 no longer expected to occur), the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognused in equity 1S
recognised in profit or loss when the hedged cash flow occurs or, if the forecast transacton results in the
recogmition of a financial asset or financial hability, in the same penods dunng which the asset or liability affects
profit or loss Where a forecast transaction 1s no longer expected to occur, the cumulative unrealised gamn or loss 1S
recognised In profit or loss iImmediately

Hedge of net investment in a foreign operation —n the hedge of a net Investment in a foreign operation, the portion
of foreign exchange differences arsing on the hedging instrument determined to be an effective hedge 15
recognised directly In equity Any ineffective portion 1s recognised n profit or loss Non-dernvative financial labties
as well as denvatives may be the hedging instrument in a net investment hedge

20 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents compnses cash and demand deposits with banks together with short-term highly liguid

investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insigrficant nsk of change In
value

21 Shares in Group entities

The Bank’s investments n its subsidianes are stated at cost less any impairment
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

ACCOUNTING POLICIES {centinued)
Cnitical accounting policies and key sources of accounting judgements

The reported resuits of the Group are sensitive to the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that underlie
the preparation of ts financial statements Northem Ireland company law and IFRS require the Directors, n
preparing the Group's financial statements, to select sutable accounting policies, apply them consistently and
make judgements and estimales that are reasonable and prudent In the absence of an applicable standard or
mterpretation, 1AS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’, requires management to
develop and apply an accounting policy that results in relevant and rehable information in the light of the
requirements and guidance in IFRS dealing with similar and related 1ssues and the IASB's Framework for the
Praparation and Presentation of financial statements

The judgements and assumptions mvolved in the Group’s accounting policies that are considered by the Board to
be the most important to the portrayal of its financial conditon are discussed below The use of estimates,
assumptions or models that differ from those adopted by the Group would affect its reported results

Loan impairment provisions

The Group's loan impairment provisions are established to recognise incurred impairment losses in its portfolio of
loans classified as loans and receivables and carried at amortised cost A loan is impaired when there I1s objective
evidence that events since the loan was granted have affected expected cash flows from the loan The imparment
loss 1s the difference between the carrying vaiue of the loan and the present value of estimated future cash flows at
the loan's onginal effective interest rate

At 31 December 2008, gross loans and advances to customers totalled £60,377m {2007 £46,057m} and customer
loan impairment provisions amounted to £811m (2007 £322m)

There are two components to the Group's loan impairment provisions mdividual and coliective

Indnadual cormponent — all impaired loans that exceed specific thresheolds are individually assessed for impairment
individually assessed loans principally compnse the Group's portfolio of commercial loans to medium and large
businesses Impairment losses are recognised as the difference between the carrying value of the loan and the
discounted value of management's best estimate of future cash repayments and proceeds from any security held
These estimates take into account the customer's debt capacity and financial flexibility, the level and quality of its
earnings, the amount and sources of cash flows, the industry i which the counterparty operates, and the
realisable value of any secunty held Estmating the quantum and timing of future recoveries involves significant
judgement The size of receipts will depend on the future performance of the borrower and the value of secunty,
both of which will be affected by future economic condihons, additionally, collateral may not be readily marketable
The actual amount of future cash flows and the date they are recewed may differ from these estimates and
consequently actual losses incurred may differ from those recagnised in these financial statements

Collective componenf — this 1s made up of two elements loan impairment provisions for impared loans that are
below individual assessment thresholds (collective impaired loan provisions) and for loan losses that have been
ncurred but have not been separately identfied at the balance sheet date {latent loss provisions) These are
established on a portfolio basis using a present value methodology taking into account the level of arrears,
secunty, past loss expenence, credit scores and defaults based on portfolio trends The most significant factors in
establishing these provisions are the expected loss rates and the related average life These portfolios include
credit card recevables and other personal advances including mortgages The future credit qualty of these
portfolios 1s subject to uncertainties that could cause actual credit losses to differ matenally from reported loan
imparment provisions These uncertainties include the economic environment, notably interest rates and ther
effect on customer spending, the unemployment level, payment behaviour and bankruptcy trends
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
Pensions

There are three defined benefit pension schemes in operation within the Group Ulster Bank Pension Scheme,
Ulster Bank Pension Scheme (Republic of Ireland) and First Active Pension Scheme The assets of defined benefit
schemes are measured at their far value at the balance sheet date Scheme habilibes are measured using the
projected unit method, which takes account of projected eamings Increases, using actuanal assumphons that give
the best estimate of the future cash flows that will anse under the scheme habitties These cash flows are
discounted at the interest rate applicable to high-quality corporate bonds of the same currency and term as the
llabihties

Any surplus or deficit In excess of 10% of the greater of scheme assets and scheme liabilites 1s recognised in the
balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or hability (deficit)

In determining the value of scheme liabilities assumptions are made as to price inflation, dividend growth, pension
Increases, earnings growth and employees There Is a range of assumptions that could be adopted in valuing the
schemes' habiities Different assumptions could significantly alter the amount of the deficit recogmsed in the
balance sheet and the penston cost charged through profit or loss The assumptions are set out in Note 4 on the
financial statements The pension deficit recognised In the balance sheet at 31 December 2008 was £212m (2007
£197m)

Fair value — financial iInstruments

Financial instruments classified as held-for-trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss and financial
assets classified as avallable-for-sale are recognised in the financial statements at fair value All denvatives are
measured at farr value In the balance sheet, financial assets camed at farr value are included within Treasury and
other eligible bills, Loans and advances to banks, Loans and advances to customers, Debt secunties and Equity
shares as appropniate Financial habilties carned at far value are included wathin the captions Depoesits by banks,
Customer accounts, Debt secunties in 1ssue and Subordinated habiliies Derivative assets and Dernvative habilities
are shown separately on the face of the balance sheets Gains or losses ansing from changes in farr value of
financial nstruments classified as held-for-trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss are included
in the income statement Unrealised gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognmsed directly
in equity unless an impairment loss 1s recogmised The carrying value of a financial asset or a financial hability
camed at cost or amortised cost that I1s the hedged item in a qualifying hedge relationship i1s adjusted by the gain
or loss attributable to the hedged nsk

Farr value 1s the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a lability settled, between knowledgeable,
willing parties 1n an arm’s length transaction Farr values are determined by reference to observable market pnces
where avallable and reliable Where representative market prices for an instrument are not availlable or are
unreliable because of poor iquidity, the fair value 1s derived from prices for its components using appropnate
pricing or valuation models that are based on independently sourced market parameters, including interest rate
yield curves, option volatilibies and currency rates

Financial assets carned at farr value include government and corporate debt secunties, reverse repos, loans,
corporate equity shares and denvatives Financial habilites camed at fair value include deposits, repos, debt
securties 1ssued and dervatwves Far value for a substantial proportion of these nstruments is based on
observable market prices or denved from observable market parameters Where observable prices are not
avalable, fair value is based on appropnate valuation technigues or management estimates

The Group's denvative products include swaps, forwards, futures and options Exchange traded instruments are
valued using quoted prnices The fair value of over-the-counter nstruments s denved from pricing models which
take account of contract terms, including matunty, as well as quoted market parameters such as interest rates and
volatiltes Most of the Group’s pncing models do not entall matenal subjectivity because the methodologies
utiised do not incorporate significant judgement and the parameters included in the madels can be calibrated to
actively quoted market pnices Values established from pncing models are adjusted for credit nsk, hquidity risk and
future operational costs

A negligible proportion of the Group's trading denvatives are valued directly from quoted pnces, the majonty being
valued using approprate valuation techniques The fair value of substantally all securities positions camed at far
value 15 determined directly from quoted prices

Details of financial instruments camed at fair value are given in Note 9 to the accounts
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
Goodwill

The Group capitahses goodwill ansing on the acquisiton of businesses, as disclosed in accounting policy 6 The
carrying value of goodwill as at 31 December 2008 was £nil (2007 £426m}

Goodwill 1s the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of its net assets The determination of the farr
value of assets and habilities of businesses acquired requires the exercise of management judgement, for example
those financial assets and liabiities for which there are no quoted pnces and those non-financial assets where
valuations reflect estimates of market conditions such as property

Different fair values would result in changes to the goodwill anising and to the post-acquisition performance of the
acquisition Goodwill is not amortised but 1s tested for impairment annually or more frequently If events or changes
In circumstances indicate that it might be impaired

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination 1s allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units expected to benefit from the combination
Goodwill impairment testing involves the companson of the carrying value of a cash-generating unit or group of
cash generating units with its recoverable amount The recoverable amount 1S the higher of the unit's far value and
its value in use Value in use 1s the present value of expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units Fair value 1s the amount obtainable for the sale of the cash-generating unit In an
arm's length transachon between knowledgeable, willing parties

Impairment testing inherently mvolves a number of judgmental areas the preparation of cash flow forecasts for
penods that are beyond the normal requirements of management reporting, the assessment of the discount rate
appropriate to the business, estmation of the far value of cash-generatng units, and the valuation of the
separable assets of each business whose goodwill 1s being reviewed

New accounting developments

The Group adopted IFRS 8 'Operating Segments’ with effect from 1 January 2008 Early adoption of IFRS 8 has
not affected segmental disclosures

In October 2008, the IASB issued and, the European Union endorsed, amendments to IAS 39 Fmnancial
Instruments Recognition and Measurement' to permit the reclassification of financial assets out of the heid-for-
trading (HFT) and available-for-sale (AFS) categonies subject to certain restnctions Transfers must be made at fair
value and this farr value becomes the instruments' new cost or amortised cost The amendments are effective from
1 July 2008 Reclassifications made before 1 November 2008 were backdated to 1 July 2008, subsequent
reclassifications were effective from the date the reclassificabon was made

The Group reviewed its portfolios of financial assets in the light of the amendments and has imtially decided to not
to reclassify any of the financial instruments

Accounting developments
International Financial Reporting Standards

The international Accounting Standards Board 1ssued a revised I1AS 23 'Borrowing Costs’ In March 2007 Entities
are required to capitahse borrowing costs attnbutable to the development or construction of intangible assets or
property plant or equipment The standard 1s effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
and 1s not expected to have a matenal effect on the Group or Bank

The IASB 1ssued a revised IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financiat Statements' in September 2007 effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 The amendments to the presentation requirements for financial
statements are not expected to have a matenal effect on the Group or Bank

The IASB published a revised IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations' and related revisions to IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements' following the completion i January 2008 of its project on the acquisihon and
disposal of subsidiaries The standards improve convergence with US GAAP and provide new guidance on
accounting for changes in interests 1n subsidianes The cost of an acquisition will compnse only consideration paid
to vendors for equity, other costs will be expensed iImmediately Groups will only account for goodwill on acquisition
of a subsidiary, subsequent changes in interest will be recognised in equity and only on a loss of control will there
be a profit or loss on disposal to be recognised in ncome The changes are effective for accounting penods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009 but both standards may be adopted together for accounting penods begmning on
or after 1 July 2007 These changes will affect the Group’s accounting for future acquisitions and disposals of
subsidianes
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued}
Accounting developments (continued)

The 1ASB published revisions to 1AS 32 ‘Financial Instruments Presentation’ and consequential revisions to other
standards i February 2008 to mprove the accounting for and disclosure of puttable financial nstruments The
revisions are effective for accounting penods beginming on or after 1 January 2009 but together they may be
adopted earlier They are not expected to have a matenal affect on the Group or the Bank

The 1ASB 1ssued amendments to a number of standards in May 2008 as part of its annual improvements project
The amendments are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 and are not expected
to have a matenal effect on the Group or Bank

Also In May 2008, the IASB 1ssued amendments to IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards’ and IAS 27 'Consclidated and Separate Financial Statements' that change the investor's accounting for
the cost of an nvestment in a subsidiary, jointly controlled entity ar associate [t does not affect the consolidated
accounts but may prospectively affect the company's accounting and presentation for receipts of dividends from
such entities

The IASB 1ssued an amendment to IAS 38 in July 2008 to clanfy the IFRS stance on Elgible Hedged ttems The
amendment 1s effective for accounting penods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 and are not expected to have
a matenal effect on the Group or Bank

The intemmational Financial Reporting Interpretatons Committee ('IFRIC’) 1ssued interpretation IFRIC 15
‘Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate’ in July 2008 This interpretation clanfies the accounting for
construction profits It 15 applicable for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 and 1s not
expected to have a matenal effect on the Group or Bank

The IFRIC 1ssued interpretation IFRIC 16 'Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation’ in July 2008 The
interpretation addresses the nature of the hedged nsk and the amount of the hedged item, where in a group the
hedging item could be held, and what amounts should be reclassified from equity on the disposal of a foreign
aperation that had been subject to hedging The interpretation I1s effective for accounting penods beginning on or
after 1 October 2008 and is not expected to have a matenal effect on the Group or Bank

The IFRIC ssued interpretation IFRIC 17 ‘Distnbutions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners' and the |IASB made
consequential amendments to IFRS 5 "Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontnued Operations' in
December 2008 The nterpretation requires distributions to be presented at farr value with any surplus or deficit to
be recogmised in income The amendment to IFRS 5 extends the definition of disposal groups and discontinued
operations to disposals by way of distribution  The interpretation s effective for accounting penods beginning on or
after 1 July 2009, to be adopted at the same tme as IFRS 3 {revised 2008). and Is not expected to have a matenal
effect on the Group or Bank

The IFRIC issued interpretation IFRIC 18 “Transfers of Assets from Customers’ in January 2009 The interpretation
addresses the accounting by suppliers that recewe assets from customers, requinng measurement at fair value
The mterpretation is effective for assets from customers received on or after 1 July 2009 and 1s not expected to
have a matenal effect on the Group or Bank
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

1 Net interest iIncome Group
2008 2007
£m £m
Loans and advances to customers 2,808 2,155
Loans and advances to banks 756 997
Debt secunhes 83 104
Interest receivable 3,647 3,256
Customer accounts {565) {520)
Deposits by banks {1,1086) {1,105}
Debt securhes In 1ssue {(987) {771)
Subordinated labilihes (63) (30)
Interest payable {2,721) {2.426)
Net interest Income 926 830
2 Non interest income Group
2008 2007
£m £m
Fees and commission receivable 236 187
Fees and commission payable (23) {31)
Income from trading activities
Foreign exchange (3 64 74
Interest rates (2 {212) 24
Other operating income 46 89
Non interest iIncome 111 343

The analysis of trading Income is based on how the business 1s organised and the underlying nsks managed

Notes

Trading incomre ceramses gans and losses on financal insturents held for racing, boih rea'ssed and uareaised irietest *nzere and dividerds and the related funding
%%ﬂiypes of mstruments ircluce

(1} Fereign excrange spot foreign exchange co~'racts cuTrency swaos a1d options emerging markess and rela-ed hedges and funding

(2} Irzerest rate inlerest ra'e s'waos, ‘o-ward foregn exchange contracis ferward rate agreemen's n‘erest rate optars Iin‘eresi rate fu'ures and related hedges and
fundirg
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

3 Operating expenses

Group

2008 2007
£m fm
Wages, salanes and other staff costs 315 279
Social secunty costs 28 23
Pension costs (see Note 4) 52 37
Staff costs 395 339
Premises and equipment 7" 72
Other administration expenses 142 135
213 207
Property plant and equipment (see Note 16) 30 23
Intang ble assets (see Note 15) 22 39
Depreciation and amortisation 52 62
660 608

Integration costs included in aperating expenses CoOmprnses
Staff costs - 3
- 3

The auditors’ remuneration for statutory audit work was £0 87m for the Group (2007 £0 8m) and £0 34m
(2007 £0 3m) for the Bank Remuneration paid to the auditors for non-audit work for the Group was £0 242m
(2007 £0 2m)

The average number of persons employed by the Group dunng the year, excluding temporary staff was 6,668
(2007 6.422) The average number of temporary employees dunng 2008 was 258 (2007 424} The number of
persons employed by the Group at 31 December, excluding temparary staff, was as follows

Group
£mployee Numbers 2008 2007
Number Number
Retall Markets 3,076 3,200
Corporate Markets/Other 3,525 3,536
6,601 6,735

4 Pension costs

The Group operates the following defined benefit pension schemes, the assets of which are independent of the
Group's finances

Name of schemes

Ulster Bank Pension Scheme

Uister Bank Pension Scheme (Republic of ireland)
First Active Pension Scheme

Employees make contributions at varying levels depending on which scheme they are a member of and when
they Joined the scheme In addition, employees may make voluntary contnbutions to secure additonal benefits
on a meney- purchase basis The First Active Executives Scheme 15 closed to new entrants and it merged with
the First Active Pension Scheme on 30 March 2007

The Group also makes contributions to a small number of RBS Group Pension Schemes, the costs of which are
accounted for as defined contributions

The corndor method of accounting permits the Group to defer recognition of actuanal gains and losses that are
within 10% of the larger of the fair value of plan assets and present value of defined benefits cbligations of the
schemes, on an individual scheme basis at the reporting date  Any excess vanations are amortised prospectively
over the average remaining service lives of current members of the schemes
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

4 Pension costs {continued)

Internm valuations of the Group's schemes were prepared to 31 December 2008 by independent actuanes, using

the following assumptions

Principal actuanial assumptions at 31 December (weighted
average)

Group

2008

2007

Discount rate

Expected retum on plan assets

Rate of increase n salanes

Rate of increase in pensions in payment
Inflation assumption

560%-650%
6 42% - 6 80%
300%-370%
200%-250%
200%-270%

5 40% - 6 00%
6 59% - 6 99%
320% -4 20%
225%-320%
225%-320%

Group
Major classes of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets 2008 2007
Equities 49% 62%
Index-hnked bonds 13% 4%
Government fixed interest bonds 2% 12%
Corporate and other bonds 17% 11%
Property 9% 10%
Cash and other assets 10% 1%

The expected retum on plan assets at 31 December 2008 1s based upon the weighted average of the following

assumptions of the retumns on the major classes of plan assets

Group
2008 2007
Equities 8 40% 7 50% - 8 10%
Index-linked bonds 390% 4 50%
Government fixed interest bonds 390% 4 50%
Corporate and other bonds 510%-610% 520% -5 30%
Property 6 10% 6 30% - 6 50%
Cash and other assets 4 00% 4 15% - 4 60%
Bank
Principal actuarial assumptions at 31 December (all schemes) 2008 2007
Discount rate 6 50% 6 00%
Expected return an plan assets (weighted average) 671% 6 99%
Rate of Increase 1n salanes 370% 4 20%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 2 50% 320%
Inflation assumption 270% 320%
Bank
Mayor classes of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets 2008 2007
Equities 49% 62%
Index-linked bonds 14% 9%
Govemment fixed interest bonds - 9%
Corporate and other bonds 17% 9%
Property 9% 10%
Cash other assets 1% 1%
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

4 Pension costs (continued)

The expected return on plan assets at 31 December 2008 1s based upon the weighted average of the following
assumptions of the retumns on the major classes of plan assels

Bank

2008 2007
Equites 8 40% 8 10%
Index-linked bonds 390% 4 50%
Government fixed interest bonds 390% 4 50%
Corporate and other bonds 6 10% 5 30%
Property 610% 6 30%
Cash and other assets 4 00% 4 60%
Post-retirement martality assumptions (Main scheme) 2008 2007
Longevity at age 70 for current pensioners (years)
Males 16 5 156
Females 18.1 179
Longevity at age 63 far future pensioners (years)
Males 231 217
Females 249 245

These post-retirement mortality assumptions are denved from standard moartality tables used by the scheme
actuary to value the lrabiities for the mam scheme Following a comprehensive review of the mortality expenence
of Insh pension scheme members over the last two years by the Society of Actuanes, different standard mortality
tables (adjusted as appropnate} have been used in valuing the scheme liabilities as at 31 December 2008
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

4. Pension costs (continued)

Group (all schemes) Present value
of defined Net pension
Fair value of benefit liabilty
plan assets obhigations £m
Changes in value of net pension hability £m £m
At 1 January 2008 940 {1.099) {159)
Currency transiation and other adjustments 113 {177) (64)
income statement
Expected return 67 - 67
Interest cost - (53) (53)
Current service cost - (64) (64)
Less direct contnbutions from other scheme members - (2) {2)
Pasi service cost - - -
67 {119) (52)
Actuanal (losses} / gains (299) 137 {162)
Contnibutions by employer 71 - 71
Contnbutions by other scheme members - - -
Contnbutions by plan participants 5 (5) -
Benefits paid {30} 30 -
At 31 December 2008 867 {1,233) (366)
Unrecognised actuanal losses 154
Unfunded scheme habilities included in post retirement -
benefit habilities
Retirement benefit habilities at 31 December 2008 (212)

The Group expects to cantnbute £75m to s defined benefit pension schemes in 2009 Contributtons for 2008
nclude £3m in relation to past service benefits for the Ulster Bank Pension Scheme, Ulster Bank Pension

Scheme (Republic of Ireland) and First Active Pension Scheme
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

4 Pension costs {continued)

Group (all schemes}

Present value

of defined
Fair value of benefit Net pension
plan assets obhgations hability
Changes in value of net pension hability £m £m £m
At 1 January 2007 861 {1.029) {168)
Currency translation and other adjustments 46 (50} {4)
Income statement
Expected retum 59 - 59
Interest cost - (52} (52)
Current service cost - (43) (43)
Less direct contnbutions from other scheme members -
Past service cost - (1) (1
59 {96) (37}
Actuanal gains / (losses) {38) 53 15
Contnbutions by employer 35 - 35
Contnbutions by other scheme members - - -
Contnbutions by plan paricipants 4 4) -
Benefits paid (27) 27 -
At 31 December 2007 940 {1,099) (159}
Unrecogrused actuanal gains (38)
Unfunded scheme hiabilities included in post reirement -
benefit habihbes
Retirement benefit habilities at 31 December 2007 {197)
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

4 Pension costs {continued)

Bank Present value
of defined
Farr value of benefit Net pension
plan assets obligations hability
Changes n value of net pension llability £m £m £m
At 1 January 2008 451 (532) (81)

Currency translation and other adjustments
Income statement

Expected return 32 - 32
Interest cost - (31 (31)
Current service cost - (18) (18)
Past service cost - (2) (2)
32 {51) (19)
Actuanal (losses)} / gains (108) 106 (2)
Contnbutions by employer 28 - 28
Contributions by plan participants 1 M -
Benefits paid {16) 16 -
At 31 December 2008 388 (462) (74)
tnrecognised actuanal gains 27)
Unfunded scheme liabilihes included in post retirement -
benefit habilities
Retirement benefit habilities at 31 December 2008 _(101)
At 1 January 2007 430 {519) (89)
Currency transiation and other adjustments
Income statement
Expected return 30 - 30
Interest cost - (27} 27
Current service cost - (16) {16)
Past service cost - (N (0
30 (44) (14)
Actuaral (losses)/ gains {9} 17 8
Contnbutions by employer 14 - 14
Contnibutions by plan participants 1 (N -
Benefits paid {15} 15 -
At 31 December 2007 451 (532) (81)
Unrecogrised actuanal gans (29)
Unfunded scheme habilihes included in post rebrement
benefit labiibes -
Retirement benefit habihties at 31 December 2007 {110)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

4 Pension costs (continued)

2008 2007
History of defined benefit schemes (Group) £m £m
Present value of defined benefit obligations (1,233) (1,099}
Fair value of plan assets 867 940
Net (deficit) (366) {159)
Expernence (losses} an plan habihhes {18) (38)
Expenence (losses)/gains on pian assets (299} 23
Actual return on pension scheme assets {232) 21
2008 2007
Mistory of defined benefit schemes (Bank) £m £m
Present value of defined benefit obligations (462) (532)
Fair value of plan assets 388 451
Net (deficit) (74} {81)
Expenence gains/(losses) on plan habilibes 1 (4)
Expenence (losses) on plan assets (108) (9)
Actual return on pension scheme assets __(78) 20
5 Emoluments of Directors
2008 2007
£ £
Non Executive Directors — emoluments 171,500 179,000
Chairman and Executive Directors - emoluments 1,898,761 2,839,869
Total emcluments received by Directors 2,070,261 3.018,869
Compensation for loss of office 1,230,167 -
3,300,428 3,018,869

Retirement benefits are accruing to five Directors (2007 four) under defined benefit schemes

Parfarmance related bonuses are awarded on the basis of measunng annual performance against certain specified
financial targets, which include both corporate performance objectives and key strategic objectives

The total emotuments of the highest paid Director were £870,484 (2007 £1,431,584) At 31 December 2008 the

accrued pension, under a defined benefit scheme, for the highest paid

Durng the year the highest paid Director did not exercise share options

Director was £186,666 (2007 £128,3562)

The Executive Directors may also participate in the RBS Group's executive share option and sharesave schemes

Compensation for loss of office ncludes an amount in respect of pension augmentation
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — for the year ended 31 December 2008

6 Tax
Group
2008 2007
Current taxation £m fm
Urited Kingdom Corporation Tax at 28 5% (2007 30%)
Charge for the year 9 70
{Over)yunder prowision in respect of pnor penods (9} 16
- 86
Overseas Tax at 12 5% (2007 12 5%)
Charge for the year 20 45
(Over) provision in respect of prior perods {3} {18}
17 27
Total current taxation 17 113
Deferred taxation
Charge for the year (34) -
Under provision in respect of prior penods 12 5
Tax (credit)/charge for the year (5} 118

The actual tax {creditycharge differs from the expected tax charge computed by applying the standard rate of UK
Corporation Tax of 28 5% (2007 30%]) as follows

2008 2007
£m £m

Tax on (loss)/profit at the standard rate of UK Corporation tax {expected tax (198) 146
charge)
Factors affecting the charge for the year
Foreign tax charged ather than the standard rate of UK tax 30 (23)
Non-deductible items 175 1
Other timing differences - {2)
Other movements {12) (")
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior penods - 3
Actual tax charge for the year (5} 118

The effective tax rate for the year was 0 7% (2007 24 2%)

No deferred tax 1s recognised on the unremitted eamings of overseas subsidianes as these eamings are
contnually reinvested in the busmess by the Group No tax Is expected to be payable on these unremitied
earnings In the foreseeable future If overseas earmings were to be remitted a tax hability of £107m (2007 £165m)
would anse

7 Profit attnbutable to other owners

Group

2008 2007
£m £m

Dividends paid to other owners
160m Non-cumulative preference shares of €1 each 8 6
20m Non-cumulative preference shares of €1 each 1" 21
100m Non-cumulative preference shares of €1 each 34 24
70m Non-cumulative preference shares of €1 each 2 2
100m Non-cumulative preference shares of €1 each 5 4
Total 60 57

8. {Loss)/Profit dealt with in the financial statements of the Bank

In accordance with the exemption contained within Article 238 of the Companies (Northern Ireland) Order 1986, the
pnmary financial statements of the Bank da not include an income statement Included within Group loss after tax
at 31 Decernber 2008 1s £412m (2007. profit £678m) attnbutable to the operations of the Bank
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

9 Financial instruments

The following tables analyse the financial assets and financial liabilities n accordance with the categones of
financial mstruments m accordance with 1AS 39 Assets and habilites outside the scope of IAS 39 are shown
separately

Group
Dasignated MNan
as at far Ciber financiat
Held-for-  value th-augh Hedgng Avallable- Loans and {amcrtised assets/
trading profitorloss  denva'ives forsale  recewav'es ™ cast) tatilives Total
2008 £m £m £m £m £m £m £ £m
Assets
Cash and balances at
central banks (3 - - - - 346 - - 346
Treasury and other eligible
bills {2) - - - - - - - -
Loans and advances to
banks (3 - - - - 5,157 - - 5157
Loans and advances o
customers (4 - - - - 59,566 - - 59,566
Debt secunties - - - 1,528 - - - 1528
Equity shares - - - 13 - - - 13
Dervatives 2,329 - - - - - - 2,329
Intangible assets - - - - - - 1 1"
Property, plant and
equipment - - - - - - 415 415
Prepayments, accrued
income and other assets - - - - - - 252 252
Deferred taxation 68 68
2.329 - - 1,541 65,669 - 746 69,685
Liabilities
Deposit by banks s - - - - - 22,957 - 22,957
Customer accounts (7 g - 1,777 - - - 23.014 - 24,731
Debt secunties in i1ssue g - - - - - 14.194 - 14,194
Denvatives 2,205 - - - - - - 2,205
Accruals, deferred iIncome
and other habihties . - - - - - 987 987
Retirement benefit iabilities - - - - - - 212 212
Deferred taxation 34 34
Subordinated hablihes - - - - - 1,318 - 1,318
2,205 1,777 - - - 61,483 1.233 66.698
Equity 2,987
60,685
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTYS — for the year ended 31 December 2008

9 Financtal instruments (continued}

Group
Designa‘ed as Non
a1 fair valua Loans and Qther financial
He'd far- through profit Hedgng  Avalable- receivab'es (arrorused assets/
trad ng Gr lass denvatives for-sale @ ¢osf)  habilibes Total
2007 £m Em £m £ gm £m em £m
Assets
Cash and balances at - - - - 290 - - 260
central banks (1
Treasury and other eligible - - - 1 - - - 1
bills (2
Loans and advances to - - - - 7,585 - - 7.585
banks 3
Loans and advances to - 411 - - 45,324 - - 45,735
customers ()
Debt secunties - - - 2,086 - - - 2.086
Equity shares - - - 10 - - - 10
Derivatives 1,422 - - - - - - 1,422
Intangible assets - - - - - - 526 526
Property, plant and - - - - - - 321 321
equipment
Prepayments, accrued - - - - - - 218 218
income and other assets
Deferred taxation - - - - - - 50 50
1.422 411 - 2.097 53,199 - 1,115 58,244
Liabilities
Deposit by banks /s - - - - - 10,051 - 10,051
Customer accounts 7, 5 - 1,220 - - - 20,681 - 21,901
Debt securihes In 1ssue ; - - - - - 19,300 - 19,300
Denvatives 1,565 - - - - - - 1.565
Accruals, deferred income - - - - - - 867 867
and other liabilities
Retirement benefit habilibes - - - - - - 197 197
Deferred taxation - - - - - - 37 37
Subordinated liabilities - - - - - 1,062 - 1.062
1,565 1,220 - - - 51,004 1,101 54,980
Equity 3.264
58,244

MNotes

(%} Cash and balances ai central banks include Bak of Englard roles he'd n respect of netes In circutat-on 1n Ne*themn Ireland

{2) Compnises 'reasury bills ard swrrlar secunbes £ril (2007 £1m)

(3! Ircludes reverse repu'chase agreements of £nil {2007 £3 227m) and items 1 1he caurse of collecticn from olher banks of Group £136m (2007 £177m) and Bark £20m
{2007 £20m)

(4) tncludes reverse repurchase agreements of £ml (2007 £ril) Ulster Bank Group has advances secured on resigental prepetty subect to non-receurse funding Undar
IAS 39 hese secuntized mo~gages qualfy for fll -ecagririon on the palance sheet a* 31 Dacember 2008 As at 31 December 2008 £6 854m (2007 £7 649rr) ara included
In lcans ard advanzes t¢ cusicrers

(5} Includes repurchase agreements of £4 CE3m {2037 £345m) angd 1'ems Ik the course of transmission to olhe- banks of Group £65m (2007 £37m) and Bark £3m
(2007 £2m)

{6) Irciuded in denosits by banks, First Aciive s obligaions ta the Central Bark and Financal Se~rces Acthorty of Ireland {CBFSAI} under tne *errrs 0 the Morgage Backed
Pra-r-ssory Nete programTe as at 31 Decamber 2008 s €1 355 000 {2007 €11) These cbigahons are secured by way of a Foatng charge o the CBFSAL over a 1is nght
e reerest ard benefit €1 527 406 976 of lpans and advances 15 cusloTers (2007 €1 277 235 530) Otherwise than with the origr wr'ten consent of the GBFSAI First
Active has pledgee urder the “errs of ihe foaling charge *o maintain the asse's so charged free fram any encumbrance and otherwise than in the ordinary course of
business not to sell transfer lend or cihenwse dispose of any part of the chaged asset

(7} Includes repurcrase agreements £131m (2007 £ril}

(8) Comprises Bonds ard medwm te-m notes of £9 624m (2057 £6 052m) and Certificates of deposit ard other commercral page of £4 570m (2007 £13 263ry

{9) The carrpng amount cf othe- customer ascounts desigraled as at far value tnrough profit o* 128 's £79m less {2007 £37m greater) than the pnncioal ameunt

Additionatl information 2008 2007

£m £m

Gains on financial assetsfiabiities designated as at far value through profit or loss - 3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — for the year ended 31 December 2008

9 Financial instruments (continued)

Bank
Non
Designarted as at Ciber financial
Heldfor-  fair va'ue through  Availatle- Loans ang {amctised assels/
irading orafitor less fo-sale reca'vab'e cast) liacitihes Total
2008 m £m Em £m £m £m £m
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks - - - 103 - - 103
Loans and advances to banks () - - - 6,389 - - 6,389
Loans and advances to customers (1) - - - 8,132 - - 8,132
Debt secunties - - 419 - - - 419
Investments in Group undertakings - - - - - 1,333 1,333
Denvatives 47 - - - - - 47
Intangible assets - - - - - - -
Property, plant and equipment - - - - - 125 125
Prepayments, accrued income and - - - - - 120 120
other assets
Deferred taxation - - - - - a8 38
47 - 419 14,624 - 1,616 16,706
Liabilities
Deposit by banks ¢z - - - - 7,565 - 7,565
Customer accounts - 357 - - 4617 - 4,974
Debt securities In issue - - - - 955 - 955
Derivatives 69 - - - - - 69
Accruals, deferred iIncome and other - - - - - 616 616
habilites
Refirement benefit habiiities - - - - - 101 101
Deferred taxation - - - - - 15 15
Subordinated habilities - - - - 1,077 - 1,077
69 357 - - 14,214 732 15,372
Equity 1,334
16,706
Bank
Non
Des-gnated as at Other financial
He!d for- fair va'ue through Avallapie- Lcars and (amarused assets/
trading profit or *oss fer-sa's racervable cest) tabilibes Tetal
2007 £m £m £Em £m £m €m £m
Assets
Cash and balances at central hanks - - - 74 - - 74
Loans and advances to banks ;) - - - 6,726 - - 6,726
Loans and advances to customers (1) - - - 8,255 - - 8,255
Debt secunties - - 815 - - - 815
Investments in Group undertakings - - - - - 1,608 1,608
Dervatives 89 - - - - - 89
Intangible assets - - - - - 31 3
Property, plant and equipment - - - - - 117 117
Prepayments, accrued income and - - - - - 87 87
other assets
Deferred taxation - - - - - 37 37
89 - 815 15,055 - 1,880 17.839
Liabilities
Deposit by banks (2 - - - - 4,054 - 4,054
Customer accounts - 313 - - 6,346 - 6,659
Debt secunties In issue - - - - 3339 - 3,339
Dernvatves 53 - - - - - 53
Accruals, deferred income and other - - - - - 583 583
llablities
Retirement benefit labmhes - - - - - 110 110
Deferred taxation - - - - - 16 16
Subordinated liabilities - - - - 860 - 860
53 313 - - 14,599 709 15,674
Equity 2,165
17,839

(1) Includes amounts due from subsidianes
(2) Inciudes amounts due 1o subsidianes
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — for the year ended 31 December 2008

9 Financial instruments (continued)

The following table shows the carrying values and the fair values of financial nstruments on the balance sheet

carried at cost

Group
2008 2008 2007 2007
Carrying value Far value  Carrying value Farr value
£m £m fm £m
Financial assets
Cash and balances at central banks 346 346 290 290
Treasury & other eligible bills - - 1 1
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and receivables 5,157 5,157 7,585 7,678
Loans and advances to customers
Loans and receivables 59,566 59,257 45,735 45,796
Debt secunties
Available for sale 1,528 1,528 2.086 2,086
Equity shares 13 13 10 10
Financial labiliies
Deposit by banks
Amortised cost 22,957 22,957 10,051 10,051
Customer accounts
Amortised cost 24,741 24,796 21,901 21,890
Debt secunties in 1ssue
Amortised cost 14,194 14,198 19,300 19,300
Subardinated habilities
Amortised cost 1,318 1,318 1,062 1,062
a7
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ~ for the year ended 31 December 2008

9 Financial instruments (continued}

Remaining maturity

Group
Less than 12 More than

months 12 months Total
2008 £m £m £m
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 346 - 346
Treasury and other ehgible bills - - -
Loans and advances to banks 3,493 1,664 5,157
Loans and advances to customers 20,073 39,493 59,566
Debt secunties 533 995 1,528
Equity shares - 13 13
Dervatives 2,068 261 2,329
Liabilities
Deposits by banks 22,805 152 22,957
Customer accounts 21,119 3,672 24,731
Debt secunties in 1ssue 5,690 8,504 14,194
Denvatives 1,694 511 2,205
Subordinated habilities - 1,318 1,318

Group
Less than 12 More than

months 12 months Total
2007 £m £m £m
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 290 - 290
Treasury and other eligible bills 1 - 1
Loans and advances to banks 5914 1,671 7,585
Loans and advances to customers 15,672 30,063 45,735
Debt securnties 845 1,241 2,086
Equity shares - 10 10
Denvatives 717 705 1,422
Liabiities
Deposits by banks 10,000 51 10,051
Customer accounts 20,327 1,574 21,801
Debt securihes In 1ssue 6,002 13,298 19,300
Denvatives 719 846 1,565
Subordinated liabihibes - 1,062 1,062

38

3% Ulster Bank



ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

9 Financial instruments (continued)

Remaining maturity

Less than 12 More than
months 12 months Total
2008 £m £m £m
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 103 - 103
Loans and advances to banks 4,410 1,979 6,389
Loans and advances to customers 4,828 3,304 8,132
Debt securities 140 279 419
Denvatives 47 - 47
Liabilities
Deposits by hanks 7,559 6 7,565
Customer accounts 4,522 452 4974
Debt securities In i1ssue 668 287 955
Denvatives 41 28 69
Subordinated habilites - 1,077 1,077
Less than 12 More than
months 12 months Total
2007 £m £m £m
Assets
Cash and balances at central hanks 74 - 74
Loans and advances to banks 5,319 1,407 6,726
Loans and advances o customers 5,091 3,164 8,255
Debt secunties 815 - 815
Denvatives 11 78 89
Liabilities
Deposits by banks 4,022 32 4,054
Customer accounts 6,226 433 6,659
Debt secunities In 1ssue 3,334 5 3,339
Denvatives - 53 53
Subordinated kabihes - 860 860
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

10 Asset quality

Asset grades

Internal reporting and oversight of nsk assets 1s principally differentiated by credit ratings Intermal ratings are used
to assess the credit quality of borrowers Customers are assigned credit ratings, based on vanous credit grading
models that reflect the probability of default All credit ratings across the Group map to a Group level asset quality

scale

Expressed as an annual probability of default, the upper and lower boundanes and the midpaint for each of these
Group level asset quality grades are as follows

Asset Quality Grade
AQ1
AQ2
AQ3
AQ4
AQ5

Minimum
%

€ 00
021
061

181
501

Midpoint  Maximum
% %

010 020
040 060
105 150
325 500

52 50 1000

The following table provides an analysis of the credit qualty of third party financial assets by probability of default

Group
Past due
but net Ncn {rpa-ment

2008 Agrl Agﬁ Ag: Ag: Agi m-pan;_c:-:: Accné; Provis: ann Toéran
Cash and balances at
central banks 346 - - - - - - - 346
Treasury and other
eligible bills - - - - - - - - -
Loans and advances 1o
banks 2,423 - 27 12 1 - - - 2,463
Loans and advances to
customers 8,136 13,848 15,790 9,329 7.700 2,680 2,892 (811) 59,564
Debt securities 1,528 - - - - - - - 1,528
Settlement balances 76 - - - - - - - 76
Denvatives 148 91 398 100 19 - - - 756

12,657 13,939 16,215 9,441 7.720 2,680 2,892 {(811) 64,733
Commitments 1,919 1,525 2,936 1,337 568 - - - 8,285
Cantingent hiabilittes 44 189 215 195 105 - - - 748
Total off-balance sheet 1,963 1,714 3,151 1,532 673 - - - 9,033

Group
Past due
tut nat Non Imgairment
AQi AQ2 AQ3 AQ4 AGS imoaired Accrual Pravisicn Tetal
2007 £m £m £m fm £ £m £m £m £m
Cash and balances at
central banks 290 - - - - - - - 290
Treasury and other
eligible bills 1 - - - - - - - 1
Loans and advances to
banks 3,255 224 - - - - - - 3,479
Loans and advances to
customers 2,803 2,783 31,649 4,980 1,131 1,534 560 (322} 45,118
Debt secunbes 2,086 - - - - - - - 2,086
Denvatives 1,068 3 6 - 1 - - - 1,068
Total 9,493 3,010 31,655 4,980 1,132 1,534 560 (322) 52,042
Commitments 560 556 6,319 995 226 - - - 8,656
Contingent habilties 45 44 504 79 18 - - - 690
Total off-balance sheet 605 600 6,823 1,074 244 - - ~ 9,346
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — for the year ended 31 December 2008

10 Asset quality {continued)

The following table provides an analysis of the credit quality of third party financial assets by probability of default

Bank
Past cue
but not Nen  iTparment
A1 AQ2 AQ3 AQ4 AQS impaired Accrual Provision Total
2008 mn £m £m €m £m £m £ra £ £m
Cash and balances at central
hanks 103 - - - - - - - 103
Loans and advances to banks 30 - - - - - - - 30
Loans and advances to
customers 1,109 1,754 2,001 1,107 975 530 850 {(194) 8,132
Debt secunhes 419 - - - - - - - 419
Derivatives 9 2 7 - - - - - 18
1,670 1,756 2,008 1,107 975 530 850 {194) 8,702
Commitments 560 298 722 346 127 - - - 2,053
Contingent habilities N 48 85 3 27 - - - 192
Tota!l off-balance sheet 5M 346 777 377 154 - - - 2,245
Bank
Past due
but rat Non Impairment
2007 K e M e e e em T
Cash and balances at central
banks 74 - - - - - - - T4
Loans and advances to banks 67 5 - - - - - - 72
Loans and advances {0
customers 508 505 5741 203 205 336 130 {73) 8255
Debt secunties 815 - - - - - - - 81%
Denvatives 57 - - - - - - - 57
1,621 510 5741 903 205 336 130 (73) 9,273
Commitments 148 147 1,676 264 60 - - - 2,295
Contingent liabilities 68 67 763 120 27 - - - 1,045
Total off-balance sheet 216 214 2,439 384 87 - - - 3,340
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — for the year ended 31 December 2008
10 Asset quahty (continued)

industry nsk — geographical analysis

Group
Lcans and advances Treasury o"s debt
10 banks and secunges and eguity Netting ard
2008 custorrg: sha;a“s‘I Denvah;er: Toéra': DﬁSEtglr:
UK
Central and local government - - - - -
Manufactunng 304 - 6 310 -
Construction 1,258 - 5 1,263 -
Finance 2,322 419 15 2,756 -
Service industries and business achvities 938 - 19 957 -
Agniculture, forestry and fishing 305 - - 305 -
Property 3,251 - - 3,251 -
Individuals
Home mortgages 1,795 - - 1,795 -
Other 431 - - 431 -
Interest acgruals 13 - - 13 -
Total UK 10,617 419 45 11,081 -
Rest of Europe
Central and local government 95 - - g5 -
Manufacturing 1,696 - 3 1,727 -
Construction 3,243 - 57 3,300 -
Finance 3,645 1,122 1,741 6,508 (N
Service ndustnes and business activibes 7,027 - 136 7,163 -
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 1,093 - 1 1,004 -
Property 12,649 - 299 12,948 -
Indwiduals
Home mortgages 22,656 - - 22,656 -
Other 2,664 - 19 2,683 -
Interest accruals 149 - - 149 -
Total Rest of Europe 54,917 1,122 2,284 58,323 {7)
Total
Central and local government 95 - - 95 -
Manufactunng 2,000 - 37 2,037 -
Construction 4,501 - 62 4,563 -
Finance 5,967 1,541 1,756 9,264 (7}
Service industries and business activities 7,965 - 155 8,120 -
Agnculture, forestry and fishing 1,398 - 1 1,399 -
Property 15,900 - 299 16,199 -
Individuals
Home mortgages 24,451 - - 24,451 -
Other 3,095 - 19 3.114 -
Interest accruals 162 - - 162 -
65,534 1,541 2,329 69404 (7}

i This coluTn shaws the amcunt by which the Group s credit nsk exposures 1S reduced through arrangements such as Taster netting agreemerts wrich give the Group
a legal rght to se*-of the finaraal asset agarst a financial kability due 16 *he samre courterpaty In agdton the Group helds ce'lateral in respect o Indnndual loans and
acvances to banks ard custemess This collateral includes mortgages over preperty (beth personal and commercial), charges over busiress assets such as plarl
Invertones and trade recevab'es and guasaniess of lending from part es ather than the borrower Tre Groud obtans cellazeral in the form of secunhes In reverse
repurchase agreereris Casn and secunt es are racaived as colla’eral in respest of denvative transactions
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10 Asset quality {(continued)

Group

Loars a1d advances

Treasury bills debt

o banks and secunt-es and equity Nett:ng and
2007 cusb::m;f:| shagﬁ Denvatng]s; Tc}:wﬁl uf-‘se’E::
UK
Central and loca! government - - - - -
Manufacturing 257 - - 257 -
Construction 1,422 - - 1,422 -
Finance 308 815 398 1,519 -
Service industnes and business activiies 881 - - 881 -
Agniculture, forestry and fishing 279 - - 279 -
Property 3,168 - - 3,168 -
Individuals
Home mortgages 1,802 - - 1,802 -
Other 427 - - 427 -
Interest accruals 53 - - 53 -
Total UK 8,597 815 396 9,808 -
Rest of Eurcpe
Central and local government 104 742 - 846 -
Manufacturing 1,131 - - 1,131 -
Construction 2,769 - - 2,769 -
Finance 8,814 531 1,026 10,371 N
Service industries and business activities 5,073 8 - 5,081 -
Agnculture, forestry and fishing 587 - - 587 -
Property 7,921 - - 7,921 9
Individuals
Home mortgages 15,951 - - 15,951 -
Other 2,533 - - 2,533 -
Interest accruals 162 - - 162 -
Total Rest of Europe 45,045 1,281 1,026 47,352 2
Total
Central and local government 104 742 - 846 -
Manufacturnng 1,388 - - 1,388 -
Construction 4,191 - - 4,191 -
Finance 9122 1,346 1,422 11,890 {7)
Service ndustnes and business activities 5,954 8 - 5,962 -
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 866 - - 866 -
Property 11,089 - - 11,089 9
individuals
Home mortgages 17,753 - - 17,753 -
Other 2,960 - - 2,960 -
Interest accruals 215 - - 215 -
53,642 2,096 1,422 57,160 2

() This coiumn shows the amaun® by which e Graup s cred t rsk exposures s reduced 'Frough arrangeTents such as maseer netbng agreements whicn give tne Group
a legal rght to se*<0f the financial asset agains: a fingricial habily die to the sana countergarty In addiben 1he Group bolds collateral in respect of individuat Icans and
advances 1o barks and cusomers This celleteral ncludes rongages over p-operty (hoth personal and cormercial) charges over busiress assets such as plani
\"vertones ano trade receivables and guarartees of lerding from partes ather than the tomcwer The Group cbians collateral n the form of secuntes in reve'se
repurchase agreements Cash ard sesuniles are received as colla*eral in respect of deqvative trarsacicns
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

10 Asset quality (continued)

Bank
Lcans ard advaices Treasury bills cebt
to banks and securit-es and ecuity Netung and
2008 cus:cm:: sha;:&[: Denva'w:: Toéfrl\ oﬁsetE:“
UK
Central and focal government - - - - -
Manufacturing 304 - 6 310 -
Construction 1,258 - 5 1,263 -
Finance 6,420 419 17 6,856 -
Service industnes and business activities 938 - 19 957 -
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 305 - - 305 -
Property 3,251 - - 3,251 -
Individuals
Home mortgages 1,795 - - 1,795 -
Other 431 - - 431 -
Interest accruals 13 - - 13 -
Total UK 14,715 419 47 15,181 -
Rest of Europe
Central and local government - - - - -
Manufactunng - - - - -
Construction - - - - -
Finance - - - - -
Service iIndustries and business activiies - - - - -
Agniculture, forestry and fishing - - - - -
Property - - - - -
Individuals
Home mortgages - - - - -
Other - - - - -
interest accruais - - - - -
Total Rest of Europe - - - - -
Total
Central and local government - - - - -
Manufactunng 304 - 6 310 -
Construction 1,258 - 5 1,263 -
Finance 6,420 419 17 6,856 -
Service industnes and business activihes 938 - 19 957 -
Agnculture, forestry and fishing 305 - - 305 -
Property 3,251 - - 3,251 -
Indmiduals
Home mortgages 1,795 - - 1,795 -
Other 431 - - 431 -
Interest accruals 13 - - 13 -
14,715 419 47 15,181 -

) Ths cclumn skcws the amount by whech the Bank's credit nsk exposures Is reduced threugh arrargeents such as master reting agreements, which give the Bank a
legal ngtt io sei-of the financial asset aganst a financial hatiity due to the sare couterparty In ecditon the Bark holds ccllaeral in respect of indvidual loars and
advances 1o barks and customers This collateral includes Taortgages cver proderty (aoth personal ard comrercia') charges over business assets such as plant
ventories and trace recevab'es and guarantees of lerdirg frem parlies other than the bargwes The Bank obtans callateral in the form of securies in reverse
repurchase agreements Cash and secunties aré received as cellaieral in resaect of denvatve transachons
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — for the year ended 31 December 2008

10 Asset quality {continued)

Bank

Loans a1d acvances

Treasu-y b'is dent

to banks and securries and equidy . Netting a-}?]
2007 Cuslu'rgr:l sharEens; Denva-n;:ﬁ Tr.':‘:la;rlI of‘se'Em
UK
Central and local government - - - - -
Manufactunng 257 - - 257 -
Construction 1,422 - - 1,422 -
Finance 6,765 815 89 7.669 -
Service industnes and business achvities 881 - - 881 -
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 279 - - 279 -
Property 3,168 - - 3,168 -
Individuals
Home merigages 1,802 - - 1,802 -
Other 427 - - 427 -
Interest accruals 53 - - 53 -
Total UK 15,054 815 89 15,958 -
Rest of Eurcpe
Central and local government - - - - -
Manufacturing - - - - -
Construction - - - - -
Finance - - - - (7}
Service industnies and business activites - - - - -
Agnculture, forestry and fishing - - - - -
Property - - - - 9
Individuals
Home mortgages - - - - -
Other - - - - -
Interest accruals - - - - -
Total Rest of Europe - - - - 2
Total
Central and tocal government - - - - -
Manufacturing 257 - - 257 -
Construction 1,422 - - 1,422 -
Finance 6,765 815 89 7,669 (7}
Service mdustnes and business achwities 881 - - 881 -
Agnculture, forestry and fishing 279 - - 279 -
Property 3,168 - - 3,168 9
Individuals
Home mortgages 1,802 - - 1,802 -
Qther 427 - - 427 -
Interest accruals 53 - - 53 -
15,054 815 89 15,958 2

1
o Thig celumn shaws the anrount by which the Bank s credit nsk expcsures 1s reduced trough arrangements, such as masrer netmg agreemrents which give the Bank a

legal nght to set-cf the finarcal asset agarst a financ:al hatilty due io the saTe ©

advances 1o barks and customers This ccllaeral includes morgages over prepety (both perscnal anc cermercia’) chages over Cus ness asseis such as plant

oLnterpaty In addton the Bank holds co"ateral in respest of indvidual loans and

\ventcnes and irace recervables ans guasantees of lendng fsm partes other than ihe borrower The Bani cbiains collareral sn the form of secuies n reverse
repL-chase agreements Cash and secunles are recerved as co"aleral in resoect of denvauve transactons
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — for the year ended 31 Decernber 2008

11 Past due and impaired financial assets

The following table shows the movement in the provision for mpairment losses for loans and advances

Group
Individually ~ Collectively Total Total
assessed assessed Latent 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January a0 141 a1 322 249
Currency translation and other adjustments 61 42 21 124 24
Amounts written-off ) ("N - (19) (16)
Recoveries of amounts previously written-off - - - - 2
Charged to the income statement 298 106 10 414 78
Unwind of discount (18) (12) - {30) {15)
At 31 December 429 260 122 811 322
Bank
indwvidually  Collectively Total Total
assessed assessed Latent 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January ) 11 39 23 73 65
Amounts wntten-off " - (8) - (8) 9)
Recovenes of amounts previously written-off - - - - -
Charged to the income statement 104 27 7 138 21
Unwind of discount (6} (3) - {9 (4}
At 31 December 109 55 30 194 73
(3 Arounts wrten off do nat include ary loans and advances ic banks
Irpa-tmers losses at 31 Dacerber 2008 do no* ircluce any loans and advances to hanks
Group Bank

2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m

Impairment losses charged to the Income statement
Loans and advances to customers 414 78 138 21

Lean impairment

At 31 December 2008, the Group's non-accrual loans and loans past due 90 days amounted to £3,297m
(2007 £606m) and £911m {2007 £137m) for Bank Loan impairment provisions of £689m (2007 £230m) were held
against the Group loans and £164m (2007 £50m) against the Bank loans

Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Gross income not recogmised but which would have been
recagnised under the cnginal terms of non-accrual and
restructured loans
Domestic 8 - 8 -
Foretgn 31 3 - -
39 3 8 -

Interest on non-accrual and restructured loans included 1n net -
interest Income
Domestic - - - -
Foreign - - - -

The Group considers financial assets to be impaired when there 1s no longer a reasonable prospect of receiving the
contractual cash flows 1 accordance with the contract and the net present value of any secunty 1s less than the
outstanding amount
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

11 Past due and impaired financial assets (continued)

The following table shows analysis of iImpaired financial assets

2008 2007
Group Net book Net book
Cost Provision value Cost  Provision value
£m £m £m £m £m Em
impaired financial assets
Loans and advances to customers 2,892 (689) 2,203 560 {230) 330
Equity shares 2 (1) 1 2 (1} 1
2,894 {690) 2,204 562 {231) 331
2008 2007
Bank Net book Net book
Cost Provision value Cost  Prowsion value
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Impaired financial assets
Loans and advances to customers 850 (164} 686 130 (50) 80
850 (164) 686 130 {50) 80

The Group holds collateral in respect of certain loans and advances to banks and to customers that are past due
or imparred Such collateral ncludes mortgages over property (both personal and commercial}, charge over
business assets such as plant, inventories and trade receivables, and guarantees of lending from parties other

than the barrower

The following assets were past due at the balance sheet date but not considered impaired

Past due
Group Past due Past due Pastdue  more than 90
1-29 days 30-59 days 60-89 days days Total
2008 fm £m £m £m £m
Loans and advances to customers 1,596 399 280 405 2,680
2007
Loans and advances to customers 1,072 242 204 46 1,534
Past due
Bank Past due Past due Past due more than 80
1-29 days 30-59 days 60-89 days days Total
2008 £m £m £m £m £m
Loans and advances to customers 391 39 39 61 530
2007
Loans and advances to customers 272 30 27 7 336
Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Impaired financial assets - individually assessed
Loans and advances to customers 429 90 109 11

Loans that have been renegotiated n the past 12 months that would otherwise have been past due or impaired
amounted to £l as at 31 Degember 2008 (2007 £2m) for the Group and £mil (2007 £0 2m) for the Bank

47

%< Ulster Bank
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2008

12 Debt securities

Group
Bank and Mortgage
building backed
Govemment society secunties Cther Total
2008 £m £m £m £m £m
Avallable-for-sale 898 535 95 - 1,528
At 31 December 2008 598 535 95 - 1,528
Availlable-for-sale
Gross unreahsed gains 11 - - - 11
Gross unrealised losses - (15) {13} - {28)
Group
Bank and Mortgage
buitding backed
Government society securhes Other Total
2007 £m fm fm £m £m
Available-for-sale 760 665 124 537 2,086
At 31 December 2007 760 685 124 537 2,086
Avallable-for-sale
Gross unrealised gains - - - - -
Gross unrealised losses - (22) - - (22)
Bank
Bank and Mortgage
bullding backed
Government soclety securities Other Total
2008 £m £m £m £m £fm
Avallable-for-gale - 324 95 - 419
At 31 December 2008 - 324 05 - 419
Available-for-sale
Gross unreahsed losses - (14) {13) - {(27)
Bank
Bank and Mortgage
building backed
Government society secunties Other Total
2007 £m £m £m £m £m
Available-for-gale - 383 124 298 815
At 31 December 2007 - 393 124 298 815
Available-for-sale
Gross unrealised losses - 4 - - (4}
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ULSTER BANK GROUP

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — for the year ended 317 December 2008

12 Debt securities (continued)

The following table shows the Group and Bank's available-for-sale debt secunties by matunty and related yield
(based on weighted averages) as at 31 December 2008

Group Within 1 year After 1 but within After 10 years Total
5 years
Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield
£m % £m % £m % £m %
Issued by
Government 239 29% 659 33% - - 898 32%
Mortgage backed
securities - - - - 95 4 3% 95 4 3%
Bank and bullding
soclety 2904 4 0% 241 36% - - 535 3 8%
Other - - - - - - - -
Total fair value 533 35% 900 34% 95 4 3% 1.528 35%
Bank Within 1 year After 1 but within After 10 years Total
5 years
Amaount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield
£m % £m % £m % £m %

Issued by
Mortgage backed
securities - - - - 95 4 3% 95 4 3%
Bank and building
society 151 38% 173 37% - - 324 37%
Other - - - - - - - -
Total far value 151 3 8% 173 37% 05 4 3% 419 3 9%

There were no matunties within the 5-10 year tme category in 2008 and 2007

The following table shows the Group and Bank’s available-for-sale debt securities by matunty and related yield
{based on weaighted averages) as at 31 December 2007

Group Within 1 year After 1 but within 5 After 10 years Total
years
Amount Yield Amount Yield  Amount Yield Amount Yield
£m % £m % £m % £m %
Issued by
Government 129 4 3% 631 42% - - 760 4 2%
Mortgage backed - - - - 124 6 4% 124 6 4%
secunties
Bank and building 179 4 5% 486 4 6% - - 665 4 6%
society
Other 537 51% - - - - 537 51%
Total farr value 845 4 9% 1,117 4 4% 124 6 4% 2,086 4 7%
Bank Within 1 year After 1 but wathin 5 After 10 years Total
years
Amount Yield  Amount Yeld  Amount Yield Amount Yield
£m % £m Yo £m % £m %
Martgage backed - - - - 124 6 4% 124 6 4%
secuntes
Bank and building 78 47% 315 52% - - 393 5 1%
society
QOther 298 50% - - - - 298 50%
Total farr value 376 4 9% 315 5 2% 124 6 4% 815 5 3%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — for the year ended 31 December 2008

13 Equity shares

Group
2008 2007
Listed Unlisted Total Listed Unlisted Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Avallable-for-sale - 13 13 - 10 10
At 31 December - 13 13 - 10 10

No gains or losses were realised on the available for sale equity shares (2007 gain of £6m)
As at 31 December 2008 the Bank held £210,179 unlisted equity shares (2007 £175,000)
14 Investments in Group undertakings

Investments in Group undertakings are carried at cost less imparment Movements dunng the year were as
follows

Bank

2008 2007
£m £m
At 1 January 1,608 1,209
Additions 236 319
imparment (418) -
Currency translations and other adjustments {83) 80
At 31 December 1,333 1,608
2008 2007
£m £m

Subsidiary undertakings comprise
- Banks 488 763
- Other 845 845
Total — all unhsted 1,333 1,608

The principal subsidiary undertakings included in the consolidated accounts of the Bank are shown below Al of
these Companies are ncluded n the Group’s consolidated financial statements and have an accounting reference
date of 31 December With the exception of Ulster Investments Limited which is incorporated in Northern Ireland,
all are incorporated 1n the Republic of Ireland  The Bank holds 100% of the ordinary share capital of all subsidiary
undertakings apart from Ulster Bank Commercial Services Limited where the holding 1s 90 9%, and Ulster Bank
Insurance Services Limited where the holding 1s 51 0% In all cases, the holding 1s equal to the voting nghts

Undertaking Nature of business
Ulster Bank Ireland Limited Banking services, corporate and nvestment banking, foreign

exchange services
First Active plc Banking Services
Ulster Bank Finance plc Issue of debt instruments
Ulster Bank Commercial Services Limited Debtor finance
Easycash (Ireland} Limited Provision of ATM services
Ulster Bank (Ireland) Holdings Holding company
Ulster Bank Holdings (RO1) Limited Investment company
Uister Investments Limited Investment company
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15 Intangible assets

Group
Core Other
Deposit Acquired  Computer

Goodwill  Intangibles  Intangibles Software Total
2008 £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2008 426 27 31 106 590
Currency translation and other adjustments 150 8 10 6 174
Additions - - - - -
Disposals - - - - -
At 31 December 2008 576 35 41 112 764
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2008 - 15 12 37 64
Currency translation and other adjustments - 5 5 - 10
Disposals - - - - -
Impairment 576 - 21 60 657
Amortisation charge for the year - 4 3 15 22
At 31 December 2008 576 24 41 112 753
Net book value at 31 December 2008 - 11 - - 11

Goodwill, all of which relates to unquoted investments, has ansen on the acquisitons of First Active plc and
Easycash (Ireiand) Limited

As required under |AS 36, the Group undertakes annual impaiment testing on Goodwill and Other Intangible
assets Given the significant detenoration in the short term performance of the Group and the reduced profit
outlook over the planning honzon, projected cash flows have been reduced leading to full impairment of Goodwill
and Intangible carrying values As a result, the Group felt it prudent to wnte down the value of its investment in First
Active plc and Easycash (Ireland) Limited as well as related intangible assets The Group also booked an
impairment charge on ather intangibles representing intemnally capitalised software due to reduced future income
streams

Other intangible assets, compnsing computer software not ntegral to hardware, were reclassified on transition to
IFRS Additionally, as required by IFRS directly related internal computer software development costs have been
capitahsed

Group
Core Other
deposit acquired  Computer

Goodwill intangbles  ntangibles software Total
2007 £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2007 426 24 29 96 575
Currency translation and other adjustments - 3 2 9 14
Additions - - - - -
Disposals - - - 1 1
At 31 December 2007 426 27 31 106 580
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2007 - 10 8 4 22
Currency translation and other adjustments - 1 1 - 2
Disposals - - - 1 1
Charge for the year - 4 3 32 39
At 31 December 2007 - 15 12 37 64
Net book value at 31 December 2007 426 12 19 69 526
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15 Intangible assets (continued)

Bank
Computer

Software Total
2008 £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2008 50 50
Additions - -
At 31 December 2008 50 50
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2008 19 19
Imparment 23 23
Charge for the year 8 8
At 31 December 2008 50 50
Net book value at 31 December 2008 - -

Bank
Computer

Software Total
2007 £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2007 50 50
Additions - -
At 31 December 2007 50 50
Accumulated amorfisation and impairment
At 1 Japuary 2007 2 2
Charge for the year 17 17
At 31 December 2007 19 19
Net book value at 31 December 2007 31 <]
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16 Property, plant and equipment

Group

Leases of Leases of
Freehold 50 years or 50 years or Computer

land and more less and other

bulldings unexpired unexpired  equipment Total
2008 £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2008 153 35 54 223 465
Exchange adjustments K 5 20 39 95
Additions 11 4 31 14 60
Disposals - - - (3) (3)
At 31 December 2008 195 44 106 273 617
Accumulated depreciation and
amortisation
At 1 January 2008 17 3 10 114 144
Currency translation and other
adjustments 3 1 5 21 30
Disposals - - - 2) (2)
Depreciation charge for the year 4 1 4 21 30
At 31 December 2008 24 5 19 154 202
Net book value at 31 December 2008 171 39 86 119 415

Group
Leases of Leases of

Freehold 50 yearsor 50 years or Computer

land and maore less and other

bulldings unexpired unexpired equipment Total
2007 £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2007 150 32 a7 202 421
Currency translation and other
adyjustments 12 1 4 10 27
Additions 3 2 13 13 3
Disposals (12) - - 2) (14)
Other movements
At 31 December 2007 153 35 54 223 465
Accumulated depreciation and
amortisation
At 1 January 2007 13 3 8 i 115
Currency translation and other
adjustments 1 (N 1 6 7
Disposals - - - (1) (1)
Charge for the year 3 1 1 18 23
Qther movements
At 31 December 2007 17 3 10 114 144
Net book value at 31 December 2007 136 32 44 109 321

There was no profit on disposal of freehold tand and buildings dunng the year (2007 £23 7m}
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16 Property, plant and equipment {continued)

Bank
Leases of Leases of
Freehold 50 yearsor 50 years ar Computer
land and more less and other
bulldings unexpired unexpired  equipment Total
2008 £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2008 50 20 4 100 174
Exchange adjustments - - 1 - 1
Addrtions 8 2 7 4 21
Disposals - - - - -
At 31 December 2008 58 22 12 104 196
Accumulated depreciation and
amartisation
At 1 January 2008 4 1 - 52 57
Exchange adjustments 1 1 1 (1) 2
Disposals - - - - -
Depreciation charge for the year 1 - 1 10 12
At 31 December 2008 6 2 2 61 71
Net book value at 31 December 2008 52 20 10 43 125
Bank
Leases of Leases of
Freehold 50yearsor 50 yearsor Computer
land and more less and other
buldings unexpired unexpired  equipment Total
2007 £m £m fm £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2007 62 19 2 104 187
Exchange Adjustments - - - - -
Additions - 1 2 - 3
Disposals {(12) - - (4) (16)
At 31 December 2007 50 20 4 100 174
Accumulated deprecration and
amorhisation
At 1 January 2007 4 - - 43 47
Charge for the year - 1 - 9 10
Exchange Adjustments - - - - -
Disposals - - - - -
At 31 Decemher 2007 4 1 - 52 57
Net book value at 31 December 2007 46 19 4 48 117

Capital commitments

Obligations for the Group for future capital expenditure not provided for in the financial statements at the year

end amounted to £5,694,309 (2007 £104,678)
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417 Dernivatives

Companies n the Group transact dervatives as pnncipal erther as a trading activity or to manage balance sheet

foreign exchange, interest rate and credit nsk

Group
2008 2007
Notional Notional
amounts Assets Liabilities amounts Assets Liabilities
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Free standing derivatives
Exchange rate contracts
Spot, forwards and futures 24,779 957 487 13,550 169 282
Currency swaps 2,720 164 478 13,726 305 404
Interest rate contracts
Interest rate swaps 69,798 1,172 1,203 53,077 779 866
Options purchased 2,477 10 - 2,412 13 -
Cptions written 9,400 - k)| 2,275 - 13
Futures and forwards 8,214 - 6 - - -
Credit denvatives - - - 147 - -
Equity and commodity 1,505 26 - 1,069 156 -
contracts
118,893 2,329 2,205 86,256 1,422 1,565
Bank
2008 2007
Notional Notional
amounts Assets Liabilities amounts Assets  Liabilthes
£m £m £m fm £m £m
Free standing denvatives
Exchange rate contracts
Spot, forwards and futures 714 47 49 6 - -
Interest rate contracts
Interest rate swaps 523 - 20 1.802 89 53
1,237 47 69 1,808 89 53
18 Prepayments, accrued income and other assets
Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Prepayments 25 31 2 2
Accrued income 34 3 10 1
Current taxation 55 32 8 -
Other assets 138 152 100 84
252 218 120 87
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19 Accruals, deferred income and other habilities

Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Notes in circulation 533 465 530 465
Current taxation - - - 44
Accruals 288 285 66 73
Deferred income 22 11 2 1
Other liabilities 144 108 18 -
987 867 616 583
20 Deferred taxation
Provision for deferred taxation has been made as follows
Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Deferred tax asset 68 50 38 37
Deferred tax liability (34) {37) {15) {16}
Net deferred tax 34 13 23 21
Group
Accelerate Fair value on
d capital Deferred financial Hedgin Tax
Pension allowances Provisions gans nstruments g Qther Losses Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2007 38 3 13 (7 5 (3) (18) i 15
(Charge) / credit to -
income statement 1 (3) - - (2) 4 (5} (5)
(Charge) / credit to -
equity directly B - {3) - - - - 3
Other (2) 2 - - b - 1 i -
Exchange -
adjustments - - - - - - - -
At 1 January 2008 43 4) 10 (17) 2 1 (22) i 13
(Charge} / credit to
income statement {(6) 4 - 1 {1} - 2 22 22
{Charge) / credit to
equity directly 2 - (3) - - - - - (§)]
OQther - - - - - - . - -
Exchange
adjustments - - - - - - . .
At 31 December
2008 39 - 7 (18) 1 1 {20 22 34

Full provision 15 made for all deferred taxation liabilibes except for those which might anse in the event of the reserves
of Republic of Ireland subsidiary undertakings, a substantial proportion of which are required to be retained by these
undertakings to meet their local regulatory requirements, being remitted If overseas earnings were to be remitied a tax
hability of £107m (2007 £165m} would anse
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20 Deferred taxation (continued)

Bank
2008
Provisions for Deferred Tax £m
Balance at 1 January 2007 3
Charge to income statement (9}
Exchange and other movements )
At January 2008 21
Charge to ncome statement (4
Exchange and other movements 6
At 31 December 2008 23
21 Subordinated habihties
Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Dated loan capial 1,058 845 962 772
Undated loan capital 115 88 115 88
Dated subordinated bonds 66 65 - -
Undated perpetual subordinated bonds 79 64 - -
1,318 1,062 1,077 860
Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Dated loan capital
Repayable 2014
- held by immedate parent company 20 20 20 20
Repayable 2015
- held by immediate parent company 20 20 20 20
Repayable 2019
- held by RBS plc 100 100 100 100
Euro loan capital repayable 2017
- held by RBS plc 382 294 - 294
Euro loan capital repayable 2020
- held by RBS pic 172 132 172 132
Euro loan capital repayable 2022
- held by RBS plc 364 279 650 206
1,058 845 962 772
Undated loan capital
- held by RBS plc 115 88 115 88
115 88 115 88
Subordinated bonds
£60m 6 375% subordinated bonds 2018
{callable Apr) 2013) 66 65 - -
66 65 - -
Undated perpetual subordinated bonds
First Active plc
€38m 11 375% perpetual tier two capital 51 38 - -
£20m 11 75% perpetual her two capital 26 23 - -
£1 3m floating rates 2 2 - -
79 64 - .
Total 1,318 1,062 1,077 860
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21 Subordinated liabilities (continued)

Loan capital
Claims 1n respect of the Group's and the Bank’s loan capital are subordinate to the claims of other creditors None
of the loan capital 1s secured

Interest on the Sterling-denominated dated loan capial held by fellow subsidiary undertakings, the immediate
parent comparny and the ultimate holding company are payable quarterly at a margin over London Interbank Offer
rates Interest on Euro-denominated loan capital 1s payable quarterly at a margin over Euro Interbank Offer rates

Early repayment of the dated loan capital may take place at any ime with a notice penod of at least 30 days,
subject to the prior agreement of the Financial Services Authonty (“FSA")

Dated subordinated bonds
The Sterling fixed subordinated bond matures on 4 April 2013 The clams of the holders of the bonds are
subardinate to the claims of all creditors of First Active other than the holders of the perpetual subordinated bonds

Perpetual subordinated bonds

The subordinated perpstual bonds were issued by First Active, in the Republic of Ireland, at par on converston of
First National Butding Society to a public Iimited company pursuant to Section 107 of the Building Societies Act,
1989 to replace the 1ssued fixed and floating rate penmanent interest bearing shares of the Society The claims of
the holders of the bands are subordinate to the claims of all creditors of First Active

22 Share capital
Group and Bank

Allotted, called up and Authonsed
fully pard
1 January 31 December
2008 2008 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Equity shares
Ordinary shares of £1 415 415 450 450
Equity preference shares
Non-cumulative redeemable
preference shares of €1 each 302 302 350 336
Total share capital 717 717 800 786
Allotted, called up and Authorised
fully paid
2008 2007 2008 2007
Number of shares Millions Milicns Millions Milhons
Equtty shares
Ordinary shares of £1 415 415 450 4350
Equity Preference shares
Non-cumulative redeemable
preference shares of €1 each 450 450 500 500
Total share capital 265 865 950 950

The non-cumulative redeemable preference shares entitie the holders therecf to recewve periodic non-cumulative
cash dividends, at the discretion of the directors, at a specified floating rate payable out of distnibutable profits of
the Bank In a winding-up the holders of the preference shares have the nght to repayment In prionty to the
holders of any other class of shares in the capital of the Bank Any surplus assets available after repayment of the
preference and ordinary shares will be distnbutable to the holders of the £1 ordinary shares

The non-cumulative redeemable preference shares do not confer on the holder a nght to attend or vote at general
meetings of the Bank unless the business of the meeting includes the consideration of a resolution for winding up
of the Bank or reducing its share capital or varying any of its special nghts attached to the preference shares

Subject to the provisions of the Companies (Northem lreland) Order 1986 and to the consent of the Financial
Services Authority, the Bank shall have the nght to redeem the preference shares at any time by notice to the
holders provided that no such notice may be 1ssued in respect of any preference share prior to the day followng
the fifth anniversary of the date of its allotment
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23 Shareholders’ equity

Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Called up share capital
At 1 January 77 7 717 717
Shares 1ssued dunng the year - - - -
Called up share capital as at 31 December 717 717 717 717
Share premium account
At 1 January 949 888 949 888
Currency translation adjustments and other adjustments (47) 61 (47) 61
At 31 December 902 949 902 949
Available-for-sale reserve
At 1 January (19) (12) (3) (1)
Unrealised gans/{losses) in the year 4 (2) (23) (3)
Realised {losses) in the year - (6) - -
Exchange {losses) in the year - (1) - -
Taxation 3 2 7 1
At 31 December {(12) (19) {19) (3)
Cash flow hedging reserve
At 1 January 7 T - -
Unrealised (losses) in the year (3) (1 - -
{Losses) recycled on terminated hedges - {4) - -
Exchange gaina 2 - - -
Taxation - 1 - -
At 31 December 6 7 - -
Retained earnings
At 1 January 1,105 1,410 467 419
Actuanal gains and other movements (20} (6) (1} -
(Loss)/profit attnbutable to ordinary shareholders (794) 274 (472) 621
Profit attnbutable to equity preference shareholders 60 57 60 57
Ordinary dividends paid - (573) - (573)
Equity preference dividends paid (60) (57) (60) (67}
At 31 December 291 1,105 (6) 467
Foreign exchange reserve
At 1 January 11 (52) 35 {2)
Refranslation of net assets 510 63 _{295) 37
At 31 December 521 11 {260) 35
Reserves as at 31 December 1,708 2,053 617 1,448
Minority interests
At 1 January 494 156 - -
Currency translation adjustments and other movements 122 (8) - -
Profit attnbutable to minonty interests 45 38 - -
Dividend pad {27} 21) - -
Equity withdrawn (72) - - -
Equity raised - 329 - -
At 31 December 562 494 - -
Shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2,987 3.264 1,334 2,165
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24 lLeases

Minimum amounts receivable and payable under non-canceliable leases

Group
Year in which receipt or payment will occur
After 1 year
but within §
Within 1 year years After 5 years Total
2008 £m £m £m £m
Operating lease obligations
Future mimimum lease payables
Premises 22 a3 215 320
Equipment S 4 - 9
27 a7 215 329
Group
Year in which receipt or payment will occur
After 1 year
but within 5
Within 1 year years After 5 years Total
2007 £m £m £m £m
Qperating lease obligations
Future minimum lease payables
Premises 16 60 193 269
Equipment 3 4 - 7
19 64 193 276
Bank
Year in which receipt or payment will occur
After 1 year
but within 5
Within 1 year years After 5 years Total
2008 £m fm £m £m
Operating lease obligations
Future mimimum lease payables
Premises 2 6 92 100
Equipment 1 1 - 2
3 7 92 102
Bank
Year in which receipt or payment will occur
After 1 year
but within 5
Within 1 year years After 5 years Total
2007 £m £m £m £m
Operating lease oblgations
Future mimmum lease payables
Premises 1 4 g2 97
Equipment 1 1 - 2
2 5 92 99
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24 Leases (continued)

Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Amounts recognised as icome and expense
Operating lease payables - mnimum payments 18 15 3 1

25 Collateral
Secunties repurchase agreements and lending transactions

The Group enters into secunties repurchase agreements and secunties lending transactions under which it
receives or transfers cash or secunties as collateral in accordance with normal practice Generally, the agreements
require additional collateral to be provided if the value of the secunities fall below a predetermined level Under
standard terms for repurchase transactions in the UK, the recipient of the collateral has an unrestncted nght to sell
or repledge it, subject to returning equivalent secunties on settlement of the transaction

The farr value {and carrying value) of securtties transferred under repurchase transactions included within
secunties on the balance sheet were as follows

Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Debt securities 98 21 98 -

All of the above securities could be sold or repledged by the holder Secunties received as collateral under reverse
repurchase agreements amounted to £nil (2007 £1,120m), of which none (2007 £1,120m) has been resold or
repledged as collateral for the Group’s own transactions

Other collateral given

Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Group assets charged as secunty for habihties
Loans and advances to customers 6,854 7.649 - -
Debt secunbes in 1ssue 6,693 7,708 - -

The amount of retained securtisation bonds pledged at 31 December 2008 was £6,836m
26 Securitisations and other asset transfers

The Group engages In secuntisation transactions of its residential mortgage loans In such transactions, the
assets, or interests in the assets, are transferred generally to a special purpose entity ("SPE") which then issues
habihties to third party investors

SPEs are vehicles set up for a specific, imited purpose, usually do not carry out a business or trade and typicaily
have no employees They take a vanety of legal forms — trusts, partnerships and companies — and fulfil many
different functions They constitute a key element of secuntisation transactions In which an SPE acquires financial
assets funded by the 1ssue of securities  In the normal course of business, the Group undertakes secuntisations to
sell financial assets or to obtain funding

Residential mortgage securitisations — n Ireland, the Group has secuntised portfolios of residential mortgages
These assets have been transferred to SPEs funded by the 1ssue of notes to third party investors  These SPEs are
consolidated and the secuntised assets remain on the Group's balance sheet

Securitisations may, depending on the indiadual arrangement, result in continued recognition of the secuntised
assets, or derecogrution of the assets and the separate recognition, as assets or habifittes, of any nghts and
obligations created or retained in the transfer (see accounting polcy number 15) All the Group's secunhbisations
result in continued recognition of the secuntised assets
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26. Securitisations and other asset transfers (continued)
Confinued recognifion

The table below sets out the asset categories together with the carrying amounts of the assets and associated
liabihbes

Group
2008 2007
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
£m £m £m m
Residential mortgages " 6,854 6,693 7,649 7,708

Notes

n Mortgages have been transferred to specal purpose vehicles, held ultimately by chantable trusts, funded
pnncipally through the 1ssue of floating rate notes The Group has entered into arm’s length fixed/floating interest
rate swaps and cross-currency swaps with the secuntisation vehicles and provides mortgage management and
agency services to the vehicles On repayment of the financing, any further amounts generated by the mortgages
will be paid to the Group

27 Risk management

The major nsks associated with the Group's businesses are market nsk, Ilquichty nsk, credit nsk and operational
nsk The Group has established a comprehensive framework for managing these nsks which 1s continually
evolving as the Group's business activities change in response ta market, credit, product and other developments

The Group has established clear nsk policies, including himits, reporting lines and control proceduras This
framework 1s designed to provide tight control and 1s reviewed regularly by both Executive and Board Committees

Market risk
Market nisk 1s defined as the nsk of loss as a result of adverse changes in nsk factors including interest rates,
foreign currency and equity pnices together with related parameters such as market volatilities

The pnncipal market nsks to which the Group 1s exposed are interest rate risk and foreign exchange nsk  Activity
in debt secunties, nterest-rate denvatives and money-market instruments 1s the pnmary source of interest rate nsk
in the Group’s dealing, money-market and debt investment portfolios Mismatches between the repricing dates of
the Group's assets and habiliies account for most of the interest rate nsk assoclated with its commercial banking
activities

(1} Trading

The Group's dealing, money-market and debt investment portfolios compnse denvative financial instruments
(forwards, swaps and options), debt and equity secuntes, loans, deposits and cther debt obligations Sa as to be
able to meet customer demand, the Group carnes portfolios of cash and marketable financial instruments  The
Group ehminates its market nsk in these portfolios by entenng into hack-to-back posttions wath its ultimate parent
company RBS Group
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27 Risk management {continued)

The Group manages the market sk in these portfolios through position and sensitivity limits as well as value-at
nsk (VaR) limits The VaR limits are approved by the Board The Group supplements its dally VaR calculahons
with stress testing which measures the impact of abnormal changes in market rates and pnces on the farr value of
the Group's trading portfolios  The portfolios are also subject to scenano analyses Option nsk 15 modelled using
simulation and revaluation of the vanables determining the option's value and further analyses are performed on
instruments with discontinuous payoffs

VaR is a technique that produces a single estmate of the potential negative change in the market value of a
portfolio over a specified ime horizon at 2 given confidence level The Group's VaR assumes a time honzon of
one day and a confidence level of 95% In other words, the Group expects to suffer a one-day loss greater than
vaR only 5% of the tme, 1 e one day in 20 The Group has made use of histoncal simulation models for its VaR
assessment

Histoncal simulation models assume that nsk factor changes observed in the past are a good estimate of those
likely to occur in the future The method 1s hmited by the relevance of the histonical data used The Group typically
uses the last two years of market data The independent market nsk function will madify the histoncally denved
estimates of likely nsk factor changes to reflect prevailing market conditions These modified estimates use other
market Information, such as the imptied volatiity of traded options The method of aggregation used assumes that
the income Statement of each sub-portfolic 15 normally distrbuted and that the expasures of each sub-portfolic are
independent of the athers

The Group's VaR should be interpreted in light of the imitations of the methodologies used which include

. Changes n nsk factors may not have a normal distnbution  In particular such an assumption
may underestmate the probability of extreme market movements
. Historical data used may not provide the best estmate of the jont distrbution of nsk factor

changes in the future, and any modifications to these data may be inadequate In particular VaR
using only two years of histonical data may fail to capture the nsk of possible extreme adverse
market movements

. VaR using a one-day horizon does not fully capture the market nsk of positions that cannot be
hgquidated or hedged within one day

. VaR using a 95% confidence level does not reflect the extent of potential losses beyond that
percentile

. At present the Group only computes the VaR of trading portfolios at the close of business and

positions may change substantially during the course of the trading day Controls are in place to
limit the Group's intra-day exposure but it does not yet compute VaR intra-day

VaR should, therefare, not be viewed as a guarantee of the Group’s ability to limit its market nsk The Group cannot
be certain that losses will not exceed the VaR amounts indicated nor that losses in excess of the VaR amaunts will
not occur mare frequently than once in 20 frading days

The VaR for the Group's dealing, money-market and debt nvestment portfolios 1s presented in the table below

31 December 2008 Maximum Minimum Average
£m £m fm £m
Value-at-Risk 0192 0208 0045 0142

{n) Non-trading

The prnincipal market nsks ansing from the Group's non-trading activiies are interest rate nsk and currency nsk
Treasury actvity and mismatches between the repncing of assets and habiities m its retail and commercial
banking operations account for most of the non-trading interest rate nsk

Interest rate risk
The Group's portiolio of non-trading financial instruments principally compnse retall and commercial banking loans
and deposits, debt secunties, debt securihes issued, loan capital and denvatives
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27 Risk management (continued)

Non-trading interest rate nsk 1s calculated on the basis of establishing the repricing behaviour of each asset,
liabiity and off-balance sheet product For many products, the actual interest rate repncing charactenstics differ
from the contractual repncing In mast cases, the repncing maturty 1s determined by the market interest rate that
most closely fits the histoncal behaviour of the product interest rate For non-interest beanng current accounts, the
repncing matunty 15 determined by the stability of the portfolio The repncing matunties used are approved by
Group Treasury and the Group Asset and Liabiity Committee (GALCO) at least annually Key conventions are
reviewed annually by GALCO Short-term exposures are measured and contralled in terms of net interest income
sensitivity over 12 months to a 1% parallel movement in interest rates Risk 1s managed through arm’s length cash
transactions, bonds and denvatives, principally interest rate swaps

A static matunty gap report 1s produced as at the manth-end, In each functional currency based on the
behaviourahised repncing for each product 1t 1s Group policy to include in the gap report, non-financial assets and
fiabilities, mainly property, plant and equipment and the Group’s capital and reserves, spread over medium and
longer term matunties  This report also includes hedge transactions, pnncipally dervatives

Any residual non-trading interest rate exposures are controlled by limitng repncing mismatches in the balance
sheets Patential exposures to interest rate movements in the medium to long term are measured and controlled
using a version of the same VaR methodoiogy that 1s used for the Group's trading portfclios but without discount
factors Net accrual iIncome exposures are measured and controlled in terms of sensitivity over bme to movements
in interest rates

Risk 1s managed within imits approved by GALCO through the execution of cash and derivative instruments
Execution of the hedging Is carned out by the relevant division through the Group's treasury functicn The residual
nsk position 1s reported to GALCO

Non-trading interest rate VaR

Non-trading interest rate VaR is spht between Euro and Sterling currency balances to which separate nsk imits are
applied At 31 December 2008, Stering VaR was calculated to be £220,000 (2007 £276,000} Euro VaR was
calculated to be £331,000 (2007 £266,0600)

Principal amounts only are included Average balances are used for products where this is considered to provide a
more accurate representation of the exposure A separate ladder 1s produced for each matenal currency

Option nsk In the non-trading businesses principally oceurs In certain fixed rate assets and lLabilites 1t anses
where businesses undertake to provide funding to, or to accept deposits from, customers at a future date at a pre-
determined fixed interest rate Denvatives are used to manage the nsk of interest rate movements from the date a
commitment 1s made to a customer to the date the transaction closes Option nsk also anses where customers
can repay fixed rate loans or withdraw fixed rate deposits prior to their matunty In managing thus nisk, historic early
repayment rates are taken into account

The Group generally seeks to protect itself from early repayment nsk through the imposition of contract breakage
fees
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Currency nsk

The Group does not maintain matenal non-trading open currency postions other than the structural foreign
currency translation exposures ansing from its nvestments in foreign subsidianes and associated undertakings
and therr related currency funding The Group’s policy 1n relation to structural positions 1s to match fund the
structural foreign currency exposure ansing from net asset value, including goodwill, 1n foreign subsidianes, equity
accounted nvestments and branches, except where doing so would matenally increase the sensitivity of either the
Group's or the subsidiary’s regulatory capital ratios to currency movements The policy requires structural foreign
exchange positions to be reviewed regularly by GALCO Foreign exchange differences ansing on the translation of
foreign operations are recognised directly in equity together with the effective portion of foreign exchange
differences ansing on hedging ilabilities

The table below sets out the Group's structural currency exposures as at 31 December 2008

Functional currency of the Foreign currency net Foreign currency habibties Structural foreign
net investrment investments hedging net nvestments currency exposures

£m £m fm
Euro 3,558 2,860 698

Changes in foreign exchange rates affect the Group's earmings and equity through differences on the retranslation
of the net assets and related funding of overseas subsidianes from the local functional currency to Sterling Gans
or losses on foreign currency Investments in subsidiary and associated undertakings, net of any losses or gains on
refated foreign currency funding, are recognised in reserves In 2008 exchange losses of £367m (2007 losses
£114m) have been charged to reserves

Currency balance sheet

Stering  US Dollars Euro Other Total
2008 £m £m £m £m £m
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 103 - 243 - 346
Treasury bills and other elgible bills - - - - -
Loans and advances to banks 2,820 29 2,287 21 5,157
Loans and advances to customers 12,051 309 47,098 108 59,566
Debt secunties 294 - 1,234 - 1,528
Equity shares - - 13 - 13
Derivatives {1,868} 25,413 (21,516} 300 2,329
Intangible assets - 11 - 11
Property, plant and equipment 125 - 290 - 415
Prepayments, accrued income and
other assets 252 - - - 252
Deferred taxation 19 - 49 - 68
Total assets 13,796 25,751 29,709 429 69,685
Liabilihes and equity
Deposits by banks 2,833 12,032 8,045 47 22,957
Customer accounts 6,785 4,080 13,909 17 24,791
Debt securities in 1ssue 1,993 646 14,388 156 14,194
Denvatives (300) 9,246 (6,926} 185 2,205
Accruals, deferred income and other
hiabiiies 580 8 399 - ag7
Retirement benefit habilities 66 - 146 - 212
Deferred taxahon 10 - 24 - 34
Subordinated habilities 234 - 1,084 - 1,318
Shareholders’ equity 2,402 - 585 - 2,987
Total liabilities and equity 14,603 26,012 28,665 405 69.685
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Currency balance sheet

Sterding  US Dollars Euro Other Total
2007 £fm £m £m £m £m
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 74 - 216 - 290
Treasury bills and other eligible bills - - 1 - 1
Loans and advances to banks 2,394 2,299 2,856 36 7.585
Loans and advances to customers 11,209 292 34,189 45 45,735
Debt secunties 467 147 1,472 - 2,086
Equity shares - - 10 - 10
Denvatives 191 8,622 (7,725) 334 1,422
Intangible assets 32 - 494 - 526
Property, plant and equipment 106 215 - 321
Prepayments, accrued income and
other assets 45 - 112 61 218
Deferred taxation 21 - 29 - 50
Total assets 14,539 11,360 31,869 476 58,244
Liabihities and equity
Deposits by banks 1578 7,759 282 432 10,051
Customer accounts 8,421 1,563 11,899 18 21,901
Debt securities in issue 2,871 1,706 14,326 397 19,300
Dervatives 53 - 1,512 - 1,565
Accruails, deferred income and other
habilittes 561 5 298 3 867
Retirement benefit iabilities 94 - 103 - 197
Deferred taxation 12 - 25 - 37
Subordinated hahiities 268 - 794 - 1,062
Shareholders’ equity 1,967 - 1,297 - 3.264
Total habilities and equity 15,825 11,033 30,536 850 58,244
Liquidity Risk

Liquidity Risk 1s the nsk that the Group 1s unable to meet its obiigations to depositors and creditors when due or to
honour commitments that it has given to provide credit faciities to, or to undertake transactions with, third parties

The market disruption in 2008 led to severe pressure in the whalesale funding markets and this had a major impact
on the industry The wholesale market responded adversely to the fallure of Lehman Brothers in September 2008
Across the industry this led to pressures accessing market funding

The Group’s access to its traditional sources of hquidity was severely impacted as wholesale funding markets dnied
up and some customer deposit balances were withdrawn To meet the funding pressures dunng this period UBG
used its assets as collateral to secure funding from the European Central Bank and also obtained additional
funding from RBS Group As part of the UK government scheme RBS Group was able to 1ssue debt habilities
These initratives 1in conjunction with the strong retall franchise and continued access to other funding markets
enabled the Group to manage funding throughout this penod

The structure of the Group's balance sheet 1s managed to mamtain substantal diversificaton, to minimise
concentration across its vanous deposit sources, and to linut the relance on total short-term wholesale sources of
funds within prudent levels

Dunng 2008 the Group's funding sources remained well dwersfied but the market dislocation has resulted in the
Group having a greater rehance on shorter term funding because the availability of longer term funding 1s much
reduced Atthe same time there has been an increased reliance on central banks facilities
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The folfowing table shows cashflows payable on financial iabilities up to a penod of 20 years on an undiscounted
basis Liabilities are repayable after 20 years or where the counterparty has no nght the pnncipal are excluded,
although any interest payable up to 20 years is reflected in the table

Group
0-3 months 3-12 1-3 years 3-5years S5-10years 10-20 years
£m months £m £m £fm £m
2008 £m
Deposits by banks 13,765 7,935 1,063 a1 1 -
Customer accounts 20,055 1,809 1,630 1,481 88 -
Debt securittes 1n 1ssue 5,620 3,112 1,186 1,105 445 742
Subordinated habilities 21 62 167 225 860 798
39,461 12,918 4,046 3,712 1,384 1,540
Group
0-3 months 3-12 1-3 years 3-5years 5-10years 10-20 years
£m manths £m £m £m £m
2007 £m
Deposits by banks 9,585 296 11 10 5 -
Customer accounts 18,692 1,566 759 724 183 -
Debt securities in 1ssue 8,008 2,221 4,455 4,208 1,460 -
Subordinated liabilities 23 72 202 202 1,079 (8)
36,308 4,155 5,427 5,144 2727 (8}
Bank
0-3 months 3-12 1-3 years 3-5years 5-10years 10-20 years
£m months £m £fm £m £m
2008 £m
Deposits by banks 385 496 941 808 - -
Customer accounts 4,301 303 213 196 57 -
Debt securities in 1ssue 230 463 163 150 - -
Suberdinated habiliies 17 53 141 141 774 659
4,933 1,315 1,458 1,295 831 659
Bank
0-3 3-12 months 1-3 years 3-5years 5-10years 10-20 years
months £m £m fm £m fm
2007 £m
Deposits by banks 1,816 3 - - - -
Customer accounts 5,801 446 220 210 28 -
Debt secunties In 1Issue 2,310 1,047 3 3 - -
Subordinated habilities 19 57 161 161 859 -
9,946 1,553 384 374 887 -
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Other contractual cash obligations

Group
0-3 months  3-12 months 1-3 years 3-5years 5-10years 10-20 years
2008 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Operating leases 7 20 47 40 80 45
Contractual obligations to 3 8 1 ) _ _
purchase goods or senvices
10 28 48 40 80 45
Group
0-3 months  3-12 months 1-3 years I-Hyears 5-10years 10-20 years
2007 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Operating leases 5 14 33 Ky 61 44
Contractual cbligations to ) ) } _ ) R
purchase goods or services
5 14 33 3 61 41
Bank
0-3months  3-12 months 1-3 years 3-5years 5-10years 10-20 years
2008 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Operating leases 1 2 4 3 5 2
Contractual obhgations fo 1 3 ) } } )
purchase goods ar services
2 5 4 3 5 2
Bank
0-3 months  3-12 months 1-3 years 3-5 years 5-10 years  10-20 years
2007 £m £m £m £m fm £m
Operating leases 1 1 3 2 4 3
Contractual obligations to } _ . } } }
purchase goods cor services
1 1 3 2 4 3
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Credit Risk
The objective of credit nsk management 1s to enable the Group to achieve appropriate nsk versus reward
performance whilst maintaining credit nsk exposure in ine wath approved nsk appetite

The key pnnciples for credit nsk management as defined in the Group’s Credit Risk Management Framework are
set out below

« Approval of all credit exposure 1s granted pnor to any advance or extension of credit

* An appropnate credit nsk assessment of the customer and credit facilities 1s undertaken pnor to approval
of credit exposure This includes a review of, amongst other things, the purpose of the credit and sources
of repayment, complance with affordability tests, repayment history, capacity to repay, sensitivity to
economic and market developments and nsk-adjusted return

Credit nsk models

Credit nsk models are used throughout the Group to support the analytical elements of the credit nsk management
framework, in particular the nisk assessment part of the credit approval process and angoing momitoring as well as
portfolio analysis and reporting Credit nsk models used by the Group can be broadly grouped into three
categories

» Probability of default {"PD") /customer credit grade — these models assess the probability that the
customer will fail to make full and timely repayment of credit obligations over a one year time honzon
Each customer 15 assigned an internal credit grade which corresponds to a probability of default There
are a number of different credit grading models in use across the Group, each of which considers
particular charactenstics of customer types in that portfolio The credit grading models use a combination
of quantitative inputs, such as recent financial performance and customer behaviour, and quahtative
inputs, such as company management performance or sector outlogk

» Exposure at default {"EAD"} — these models estimate the expected level of utthsation of a credit faciity at
the time of a borrower's default The EAD will typically be higher than the current utiisation (e g n the
case where further drawings are made on a revolving credit facility prior to default) but will not normally
exceed the total facility hmit The methodologies used \n EAD modelling recognise that customers may
make more use of therr existing credit faciibies in the run up to a default

» Loss given default (“LGD") - these models estimate the economic loss that may be suffered by the
Group on a crecit facility in the event of default The LGD of a facility represents the amount of debt which
cannot be recovered and 1s typically expressed as a percentage of the EAD The Group's LGD models
take into account the type of barrower, facility and any nsk mitgation such as secunty or collateral held
The LGD may also be affected by the industry sector of the borrower, the legal junsdiction in which the
borrower operates as well as general economic conditions which may impact the value of any assets held
as secunty

Credit nsk exposure measurement — these models calculate the credit nisk exposure for products where the
exposure s not 100% of the gross nommnal amount of the credit obhigation These models are most commonly used
for denvative and other traded instruments where the amount of credit nsk exposure may be dependent on external
vanables such as interest rates or foreign exchange rates
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Credit risk assets
Credit nsk assets are an internal nsk measure of the Group's exposure to customers

Policies and risk appetite

Palicies provide a clear framework for the assessment, approval, monitonng and management of credit nsk where
nsk appetite sets the talerance of loss Limits are used to manage concentration nsk by single name, sector and
country

Stress Testing

Stress testng forms an integral part of porifolio analysis, providng a measure of potential vulnerabihty to
exceptional but plausible economic and geopolihical events which assists management in the identification of nsk
not othermise apparent in more benign circumstances Stress testing informs nsk appetite decisions

Credit sk asset quality

Internal reporting and oversight of nsk assets 1s pnncipally differenbiated by credrit ratings Internal ratings are used
to assess the cradit quality of borrowers Customers are assigned credit ratings, based on vanous credit grading
models that reflect the probability of default All credit ratings across the Group map to a Group level asset quality
scale

Provision analysis

The Group’s consumer portfolios, which consist of small value, high volume credits, have highly efficient, largely
automated processes for identifying problem credits and short tmescales, before resolution or adoption of various
recovery methods

Corporate portfolios consist of higher value, lower volume credits, which tend to be structured to meet indwvidual
customer requirements

Early and active management of problem exposures ensures that credit losses are minimised Specialised units
are used for different customer types to ensure that appropnate nsk mitigation 1s taken n a timely manner

Portfolio provisions are reassessed regularly as part of the Group’s ongoing monitening process

Provisions methodology
Provisions for impairment losses are assessed under three categones as described below

+ Indwvidually assessed provisions are the provisions required for indvidually significant impaired assets
which are assessed on a case-by-case basis, taking into account the financial conditicn of the
counterparty and any guarantor This incorporates an estimate of the discounted value of any recovenes
and reahsation of secunty or collateral The asset continues to be assessed on an indwidual basis until it 1s
repaid in full, transferred to the performing portfolic or wntten-off

= Collectively assessed provisions are the prowisions on impaired credits below an agreed threshold which
are assessed on a portfolio basis, to reflect the homogeneous nature of the assets, such as credit cards or
personal loans The provision 1s determined from a quantitative review of the relevant portfolio, taking
account of the level of arrears, secunty and average loss expenence over the recovery pernod

» Latent loss prowvisions are the provisions held against the estmated impairment in the performing
portfolto which has yet to be identified as at the balance sheet date To assess the latent loss within the
portfolio, the Group has developed methodaologies to estimate the time that an asset can remain impaired
within a performing portfolio before it 1s idenbfied and reported as such

Operational nsk

Operational nisks are inherent in the Group's business Operational nsk losses occur as the result of fraud, human
error, missing or iInadequately designed processes, falled systems, damage to physical assets, improper behaviour
or from external events The key processes include nsk and control assessment, scenano analys:s, loss data
collection, new product approval process, key nsk indicators, notifiable events process, and the self certification
pracess The implementahon of this process 1s facilitated and overseen by operational nsk teams, with intemnal
audit providing independent evaluation of the control framework
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28 Capital resources

The following table analyses the Group's requlatory capital resources at 31 December

31 Dec 2008 01 Jan 08 31 Dec07
Basel Il Basel Il Basel |
Actual Actual Actual
£m £m £m
Composition of requiatory capital
Ther 1 capital
QOrdinary Shareholder's equity 2,426 2,770 2,770
Minonty interests 562 494 494
Adjustment for
Goodwill capitalised and intangible assets per Balance Sheet (11) (526) {526)
QOther Regulatory adjustments 48 53 53
Tier 1 capital 3,025 2,791 2,791
Tier 1 Regulatory Deductions (178} {102) -
Total tier 1 capital 2,847 2,689 2,791
Tier 2 capttal
Reserves ansing from revaluation of property and unrealised 57 47 47
gains on available for sale equities
Latent impairment allowances 3 3 232
Perpetual subordinated debt 115 88 88
Term subordinated debt 1,161 943 943
Total qualifying tier 2 capital before Deductions 1,336 1,081 1,310
Tier 2 Regulatory Deductons {401) (192) (119)
Total tier 2 Capital 935 889 1,191
Total regulatory capital 3,782 3,578 3,982
Risk weighted assets 29,631 29,340 34,328
2008 2008 2007
Capital ratios Y % %
Tier 1 ratio 9 61 917 813
Total capital ratio 1276 1220 11 60

Capital Resources

In the management of capital resources, the Group 18 governed by RBS Group's policy which i1s to maintain a
strong captal base, to expand it as appropnate and to utihse it efficiently throughout its activities to optimise the
return to shareholders while maintaining a prudent relationship between the capital base and the underlying nsks
of the business

Basel | Transitional Floor

Ulster Bank Group commenced calculating capital requirements under the Basel It capital framework from 1st
January 2008 The Group manages its businesses and reports capital requirements on a Basel Il basis Dunng the
transition penod for the adoption of Basel I, banks’ capital requirements may not fall below a transitronal floor In
2008 this floor was 90% of adjusted Basel | capital requirements As at 31st December 2008, the Group had
additional capital requirements under the transitional floor rules of £171m The Group's total capital resources of
£3,782m exceeded ts capital requirements taking into account the transitional floor by £1,240m On 1st January
2009, the scaling factor reduced to 80% of adjusted Basel | capital requirements
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29. Memorandum items
Contingent iabilities and commitmentis

The amounts shown in the table below are intended only to provide an indication of the volume of business
outstanding at 31 December Although the Group i1s exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance of the
obligations undertaken by customers, the amounts shown do not, and are not intended to, provide any indication of
the Group's expectation of future losses

Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Contingent hahilities
Guarantees and assets pledged as collateral 225 408 313 966
secunty
Other contingent habilities 523 282 179 79
748 690 492 1,045
Commitments
Documentary credits and other short-term trade 58 73 2 41
related transactions
- less than one year 6,010 7,188 1,832 2,138
- one year and over 2,217 1,385 118 116
8,285 8,656 2,053 2,285

Banking commitments and contingent obligations, which have been entered into on behalf of customers and for
which there are corresponding obligations from customers, are not included in assets and liabiliies The Group's
maximum exposure to credit loss, in the event of non-performance by the other party and where all counterclaims,
collateral or secunty proves valueless, I1s represented by the contractual nominal amount of these instruments
included in the table These commitments and contingent obligations are subject to the Group’s normal credit
approval processes and any potential loss 1s taken into account in assessing provisions for bad and doubtful debts
in accordance with the Group's provistoning policy

Contingent habilities

Guarantees — the Group gives guarantees on behalf of customers A financial guarantee represents an irrevocable
undertaking that the Group will meet a customer's obligations to third parties If the customer fails to do so The
maximurn amount that the Group could be required to pay under a guarantee 1s its pnincipal amount as disclosed in
the table above The Group expects most guarantees it provides to expire unused

Other contingent habilihes — these include standby letters of credi, supporting customer debt 1ssues and
contingent labilities relating to customer trading activibies such as those ansing from performance and customs
bonds, warranties and indemnities

Commitments

Commitments to lend — under a loan commitment the Group agrees to make funds available to a customer in the
future Loan commitments, which are usually for a specified term may be uncondibionally cancellable or may
persist, provided all conditions in the loan facility are satisfied or waived Commitments to lend include commercial
standby faciliies and credit lines, iquidity facilities to commercial paper conduits and unutihsed overdraft faciliies
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29 Memorandum items {continued)

Other commitments ~ these include documentary credits, which are commercial letters of credit providing for
payment by the Group to a named benefictary against presentation of specified documents, forward asset
purchases, forward deposits placed and undrawn note 1ssuance and revolving underwriting faciibes, documentary
credits and other short-term trade related transactions

Regulatory enquines and investigations — in the normal course of business the Group and its subsidianes co-
operate with regulatory authonties in vanous junsdictions in their enguines or investigations into alleged or possible
breaches of regulations

Additional contingent liabilities anse in the normal course of the Group's business It 1s not anticipated that any
material loss will anse from these transactions

Contingent llabilities and commitments incurred by the Bank on behalf of subsidrary undertakings, included in the
above, amounted to £259m (2007 £905m) for which there are corresponding obligations by counterparties

The Bank has given guarantees under Section 17 of the Companies (Amendment} Act, 1986 of the Republic of
Ireland in respect of

Cherbou Property Limited

Cuvia Finance Limited

DA Property Limited

Danroc

Easycash (Ireland) Limited

First Active Franchising Limited

First Active Holdings International Limited
First Achive Holdings Limited

First Active Insurances Services Limited
First Active Investments No 1 Limited
First Active Investments No 2 Limited
First Active Investments No 3 Limited
First Active Investments No 4 Limited
First Active Investments No 5 Limited
First Active Nominees Limited

First Active Property Investments Limited
First Active Treasury Services

GMM Limited

Inland Property Development Limited
Larroguette

Meritvale Limited

Michael Property Limited

Norgay Property Limited

Sanlar

Sondey

UIF Finance Company

Ulster Bank {Ireland) Holdings

Ulster Bank Commercial Services Limited
Ulster Bank Dubiin Trust Company
Ulster Bank Group Treasury Limited
Ulster Bank Holdings (RO} Limited
Ulster Bank Investment Funds Limited
Ulster Bank Wealth Nominees Limited (formerly FNBS Finance International Limited)
Ulster International Finance

Walter Property Limited

Litigation

The Group I1s Involved in liigation in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland  The liigation invoives claims by
and against Group companies which anse in the ordinary course of business No matenal adverse effect on the
net assets of the Group is expected to anse from the ulttmate resoclution of these claims

Registered Charges

A registered charge exists over the assets of the Group secunng all borrowings and other obligations, in whatever
form that relate to the Group's use of the Euroclear system, that are outstanding to Morgan Guaranty Brussels and
to any other office of Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York
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30 Net cash inflow from operating activities

Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
Operating {loss)/profit before tax {694) 487 (415) 750
{Increase)/decrease in prepayments and accrued income (25) (6) (9) 2
Interest on subordinated habilities 83 35 50 23
Increasef{decrease) in accruals and deferred income 14 125 {6) 16
Loans and advances wntten off net of recovenes 395 64 130 12
Profit on sale of tangible assets - (24) - (2)
Loss/{profit) on sale of secuntres 5 (8} - -
Charge for pensions 52 37 19 14
Cash contnbution to defined benefit penston schemes (71) (35) (28) (14)
Depreciation and amaortisation of fixed assets 52 62 20 27
Amortisation and provisions on debt and equity securties 36 - - -
Exchange difference 476 5 (35) 25
Other non-cash items (458) (313) (58) {180)
Net cash fiow from frading activiues {155) 429 {332) 673
{Increase)/decrease In loans and advances to banks and (14,638) (10,057) 613 (1,244)
customers
(Increase)/decrease in secunties {607) 765 (577) 629
Decrease/(increase} in ather assets 14 (27) (16} (77)
{Increase)/decrease in denvative assets (907} {515} 42 (57)
_(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets (18) (21) (1) 3
Changes In operating assets {16,156}  (9.855) 61 (746)

Increase/{decrease} in deposits by banks and customers

15,768 3,984

1,825 (1,255)

(Decrease}increase in debt secunties in 1ssue (5,106) 7296  (2,384) 887
Increase/(decrease) in other habilities 106 (22) a3 44
Increase in derivahive iabilities 640 694 16 19
(Decrease)increase in deferred tax abilities {3) 23 {1) 7

Changes in operating liabilities

11,405 11,975

{461) (298)

Total taxes (paid)

(62) (192)

(38) {(70)

Net cash (outflow)inflow from operating activities

74
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31 Interest received and paid

Group Bank
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m
interest receved 3,637 3,286 823 1,108
Interest pard (2,526) (1,214) (651) (B56)
1,111 2,072 172 449
32 Analysis of changes in financing dunng the year
Group Bank
Share capital and Subordinated Share capital and Subordinated
share premium liabiites share premium liabiiities
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m fm £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 1,619 1,619 1,062 489 1,619 1,619 860 342
Met cash inflows
from financing - - - 562 - - - 511
Currency
franslation and
other adjustments - - 256 1 - - 217 7
At 31 December 1,619 1,619 1,318 1,062 1,619 1,619 1,077 860
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33 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Group

2008 2007

£m £m

At 1 January 6,770 4,195

Net cash (outflow) inflow (3,775) 2,305

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 449 270

At 31 December 3,444 6,770
Compnsing

Cash and balances at central banks 346 290

Loans and advances to banks & debt secunties 3,098 6,480

Bank

2008 2007

£m £m

At 1 January 5,832 6,843

Net cash outflow (334) {1,156)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 25 145

At 31 December 5,523 5,832
Compnsing

Cash and balances at central banks 103 74

Loans and advances to banks & debt secunties 5,420 5,758

34 Segmental analysis

The Group operates In the financial senices Industry In the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland and
provides an integrated service to its customers

Retall Markets, which has branch networks in both Northern Ireland and the Republic of Ireland, operates in the
personal and commercial sectors where it undertakes lending and deposit taking [t 1s also active n credit and
debit card operations and n wealth management

Corporate Markets provides a wide range of investment banking products and services to the corporate and
instiutional markets, which include foreign exchange. money market services and lending

Both Retall Markets and Carporate Markets are supported by manufacturing, finance, human resources and head
office divisicns
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34 Segmental analysis {continued)

Segmental information by geographical area and class of business Is set out below

Geographical segments United Republic of
Kingdom ireland Total
£m Em £m
Total Income
2008 353 684 1,037
2007 452 721 1,173
Group {loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax
2008 (235) (459) (694)
2007 163 324 487
Net assets
2008 1,334 1,653 2,987
2007 2,108 1,156 3,264
Total assets
2008 11,273 58,412 69,685
2007 17,839 40,405 58,244
Average assels
2008 15,685 53,239 68,924
2007 16,949 34,910 51,859
Comporate
Class of business Retall Markets Markets Support Units Total
fm £m £m £m
Total Income
2008 418 752 (131) 1,037
2007 409 678 86 1,173
Group (loss)/profit on ordinary activiies
before tax
2008 167 258 (1,119) {694)
2007 220 493 {226) 487
Net assets
2008 - - 2,987 2,987
2007 - - 3,264 3,264
Total assets
2008 27,546 40,598 1,541 69,685
2007 20,117 35,595 2,532 58,244
Average assets
2008 27,245 40,155 1,524 68,924
2007 18,388 31,231 2,240 51,859
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35 Transactions with Directers, officers and others

(a) At 31 December 2008 the amounts outstanding 1n reiation to transactions, arrangements and agreements

(b}

(c)

made by authonsed institutions within the Group for persons who are, or were, Directors of the Bank during
the year or who are, connected with a Director of the Bank during the year, relating to loans, quasi-loans and
credit transactions were

Number of
Number of Connected Amount
Directors Persons £000
Loans 4 3 20,851
Quasi-loans 5 4 134

There were no amounts outstanding at 31 December 2008 (2007 £nil} in respect of loans made to Directors
by subsichary undertakings which were not authonsed institutions

The aggregate amounts outstanding at 31 December 2008 under transactions, arangements and
agreements made by authonsed ingbitutions wathin the Group for persons who are, or were, Officers of the
Bank during the year relating to loans, quasi-loans and credit transactions were

Number of Amount

Officers £000

Loans 5 2,560
Quasi-loans 4 106

36 Related parties

Dunng the year the Group had the following transactions with related parties

(a) Durectors and key managers

The aggregate transactions between the Bank and its Directors, key managers, their close families and companies
which they control were

Number of Transaction
Number of key Connected amount
Eurectors managers parties £000

Transactions durning the year

Loans made during the year
- at a commercial rate - 2
- at a preferential rate - -

- 402

Balances outstanding at the end of

the year

Loans

- at a preferential rate 3 4 - 1.877
- at a commercial rate 6 4 5 21,775
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36 Related parties (continued)
(b) Related party transactions

Included in the Group's balance sheet are the following balances with related parties at the year end

2008 2007
Assets £m £m
Loans and advances to banks
Parent 2,377 3,755
Other related parties, including fellow subsidianes 165 20
2,542 3,775
Loans and advances to customers
Parent - 27
Key management 3 2
Other related parties, including fellow subsidianes 2 757
5 786
Dervatives
Parent 1,572 354
1,572 354
Total assets 4,119 4915
Liabilities
Deposits by banks
Parent 16,015 9,342
Other related parties, including fellow subsidiares 674 234
16,689 8,578
Deposits by customers
Other related parties, including fellow subsidianes 450 149
450 149
Denvatives
Parent 1,890 875
1,890 875
Total habihities 19,029 10,600

37 Ultimate Parent Company
The Company's immediate parent company i1s National Westminster Bank Plc

The Company's ultimate holding company, ultimate controling party and the parent of the largest group nto which
the Company 1s consohidated, 1s The Roya! Bank of Scotland Group plc which 1s incorporated in Great Bntain and
registered in Scotland Coples of the financial statements for The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc can be
obtained from The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc, Gogarburn, Edinburgh, EH12 1HQ

The smallest subgroup Into which the Company 1s consolidated has as its parent company National Westminster
Bank Plc, a company incorporated in Brtain  Copies of the consolidated financial statemerits for this subgroup can
be obtained from Secretary, The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc, Gogarburn, Edinburgh, EH12 1HQ

On 1 December 2008, the UK Govemment through HM Treasury acquired a controlling shareholding in The Royal
Bank of Scotiand Group plc The UK Government has announced that its shareholdings in banks will be managed
by UK Finaneial Investments Limited a company wholly-owned by the UK Government
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38 Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as disclosed in the statement on going
concern included in the Report of the Directors

39, Post balance sheet events

In January 2009, Ulster Bank announced details of a restructunng programme that will see the merger of the
operations of Ulster Bank Ireland Limited and First Active plc in the Republic of Ireland, as well as a senes of
cost management imtiatives across the Ulster Bank Group This action 1s being taken to further strengthen the
Uister Bank Group franchise by posttioning it to best deal with the prevailing local and global market condibons
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES

Chairman

Sean Dorgan {57)

was appointed deputy Chairman in July 2008 and subsequently Chaiman in September 2008 He also serves as
Chairman of Tesco Irefand and of the governing board of Dublin Institute of Technology He 1s a board member of
Short Bros plc, FBD Holdings pic and Fineos Corporation Ltd Prewiously from, 1999 — 2007, he was Chef
Executive of IDA Ireland, one of the world's leading inward investment agencies He has also been Secretary
General of the government departments responsible for industry, commerce, toursm and trade, and Chief
Executive of the Iinstitute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Group Chief Executive
Cormac McCarthy (46)

served as Chief Executive of First Active from 2000 (having previously held the positions of Head of Finance and
Chief Financial Officer) until his appointment as Chief Executive of the enlarged Ulster Bank Group Prior fo joimng
First Active, he held a number of senior posiions with Woodchester Investments plc He holds a Bachelor of
Commerce Degree from University College Dublin and qualified as a Chartered Accountant with KPMG 1n Dublin

Senan Murphy (40)

was appointed Group Finance Director in February 2008 He jomned Ulster Bank Group from Airtncity, having been
its Chief Financial Officer since Aprll 2003  Prior to that he worked nternationally with GE Capital for exght years,
where he held a vanety of leadership roles in finance He has a Bachelor of Commerce Degree from University
College Dublin and qualified as a Chartered Accountant

Michael Bamber (47)

was appointed to his current position as Chief Executive Retall Markets Division in December 2002 He joned the
Royal Bank of Scotland pic in 1977 and was formerly Regional Managing Director, NatWest Retall Midiands and
Wales Priorto this, he held senior roles In RBS Retail Network and RBS Corporate Banking

Robert Gallagher (47)

was appomted Chief Executive of Corporate Markets Division in August 2005 He was formerly Head of Corporate
Banking International at AIB Group Pnor to this, he worked with Citibank Austrahia Limited and KPMG  He holds a
Bachelor of Science Degree and s a Chartered Accountant

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Miller McLean FCIBS, FlI (59)

was appointed Group Secretary of the Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc In August 1994 and General Counsel In
October 2003 He 1s a Trustee of the Industry and Parliament Trust, Non-Executive Chairman of The Whitehall and
Industry Group and a former Director of the Scottish Parhiament and Business Exchange He is President of the
Chartered Institute of Bankers in Scotland

Trevor Bowen (59)

joined Ulster Bank Board in 2004 He had been a First Active director since 2003 A chartered accountant, he 1s a
Partner in Pnnciple Management and holds a number of other non-executive directorships including Ardmore
Studios Ltd, The Pont Exhibition Company Ltd and Spencer Dock Development Company Ltd

81
2% Ulster Bank



ULSTER BANK GROUP

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVES {continued)

Professor Nlamh Brennan (54)

joined Ulster Bank Board in 2001 She 1s a Chartered Accountant, Chartered Drector, and Michael MacCormac
Professor of Management at University College Dublin (UCD) She 15 Academic Dwector of the Centre for
Corporate Governance at UCD  She 1s a non-Executive Director of the Health Services Executive, and 1s a former
non-Executive Director of Lifetme Assurance Company Ltd, of Colllte Teoranta, the State Forestry Company and
of Co-Operation Ireland

Eileen Gleeson (48)

joned Ulster Bank Board mn 2004 She joined First Active Board in 2003 She 1s Char of communications
company Weber Shandwick Ireland  She Is a non-Executive Director of the Institute of Directors in Ireland,
Sustainable Energy Ireland, UNICEF Ireland and the Coombe Women and Infants Hospital She 15 a former
Special Adviser to the President of Ireland, Mary McAleese

Lady Brenda McLaughhn CBE (61)

15 Chair of Cwil Service Commussion for Northern Ireland and a Member of the Public Service Commission and of
the Board of Directors of the Ulster Orchestra Society Recently retred Sentor Pro-Chancellor of Queen's
University Belfast and former Chair of South and East Belfast HSS Trust she s also a former Non-Executive
Director of the Northem Ireland Office Dept Board and former Chair of Opportunity Now N |

Christopher Mills (61}

recently retired as Group Chief Executive Officer of Ulster Carpet Mills where he played a leadership role since
1988 He began his career with Esso Petroleum, spending 18 years in a variety of management positions He has
been President of the Northem Ireland Chamber of Commerce, Chairman of Business in the Community and
President of the European Carpet Manufacturers Association

Dr Philip Nolan (55)

was educated at Queen's University Belfast where he graduated with a PhD in geology Beginning his career as a
Geology Lecturer, he Joined BP as a Geologist n 1881 He spent 15 years with the company before joining British
Gas (BG) in 1996 where he subsequently became Ctief Executive of Lattice Group, which de-merged from BG in
1999 He was CEO at Ewrcom Group from 2002 to 2006 He currently 1s Chawrman of the Insh Management
Institute of Infinis Ltd and of Sepura plc He Is a non-executive director of De La Rue and Providence Resources

lan Webb (61)

is Chairman of John Hogg and Company, a privately owned family fim, which operates a range of businesses
including textiles, travel, fuel olls and property He joined the company 1n 1970 Mr Webb i1s Chairman aof the
Belfast Harbour Users Group and a Partner of Killylane Properties

GROUP AUDIT COMMITTEE

Trevor Bowen, Chairman
Professor Niamh Brennan
Miller MclLean
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DIVISIONAL HEADS

M Bamber Retan Markets

R Bergin Communications and Corporate Services
R Gallagher Corporate Markets

R Gammell Group Human Resources
J McDonnell Group Risk Management
S Mumphy Group Finance

E Graham Manufactunng
COMPANY SECRETARY

J Collister

HEAD OFFICE

11-16 Donegall Square East, Belfast, BT1 5UB
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